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To be the leading Credit Union Co-operative in the Caribbean. 

TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited is committed to:

• The co-operative philosophy and principles of volunteerism, 
thrift, democratic governance – one member one vote, member 
ownership and control and the respect for the individual 
employee and for his/her well being

• The interest of our members at all times

• An established code of ethics including confidentiality, integrity, 
honesty and mutual respect

• Visionary leadership, prudent management and compliance with 
statutory regulatory bodies

• Continuous improvement of services and the introduction of 
innovative products for the satisfaction of members

• An environment of excellence, through continuous organizational 
learning, friendly and courteous service

• Preservation of the environment 

• Good corporate citizen 

To improve the quality of life and sustain the confidence of our 
members by providing excellent returns, innovative products and 
superior services through trustworthy, committed and well trained 
employees and volunteers whilst maintaining good governance. 

Vision

Mission

Values
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Drawing of the Pointe-à-Pierre Credit Union’s first office on the 
compound of Trinidad Leaseholds Limited.
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National Anthem of Trinidad & Tobago

Forged from the love of liberty
In the fires of hope and prayer,
With boundless faith in our destiny
We solemnly declare:

Side by side we stand,
Islands of the blue Caribbean Sea.
This our native land,
We pledge our lives to thee.
Here every creed and race 
Find an equal place,
And may God bless our Nation.
Here every creed and race
Find an equal place, 
And may God bless our Nation.

(Pat Castagne)

Lord, make me an instrument of thy Peace.
Where there is hatred, Let me sow Love.
Where there is injury, Pardon;
Where there is doubt, Faith;
Where there is despair, Hope;
Where there is darkness, Light;
And where there is sadness, Joy.
 
O Divine Master, 
Grant that I may not so much seek
To be consoled as to console;
To be understood as to understand;
To be loved as to love;
For it is in giving that we receive;
It is in pardoning that we are pardoned;
And it is in dying 
That we are born to eternal life.

(St. Francis of Assisi)

Credit Union Prayer
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Notice of Annual General Meeting 
(No. 70/2017)

Notice is hereby given that the 70th Annual General Meeting of TECU CREDIT UNION 
CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LIMITED will be held at the PETROTRIN Pointe-à-Pierre Club on 
Friday May 12, 2017 at 4.30 p.m.
Registration commences at 2.30 p.m.  

· Receive the reports of the Board of Directors, Supervisory, Credit and Education 
Committees and the Financial Statements of the Credit Union for the year ended 
December 31, 2016.

· Recommend the dividend to be paid to members for the year ended December 31, 
2016.

· Elect Officers.
· Appoint Auditors.
· Resolutions.
· Transact other ordinary business of the Credit Union.

(Original signed by the Honorary Secretary)

Agenda
1. Call to order
2. Reading of notice convening 

meeting 
3. Confirmation of Minutes and 

matters arising therefrom – 
Annual General Meeting No. 
69/2016

4. Motion that the financial 
statements and all reports as 
presented be taken as read

5. Adoption of reports:
(a) Board of Directors
(b) Supervisory Committee
(c) Credit Committee
(d) Education Committee
(e) Nominating Committee

6. Adoption of financial statements
7. Election of Officers:

(a) Supervisory Committee – 5
(b) Credit Committee – 5 
(c) Board of Directors – 4 

8. Movement of Resolutions
9. Reading of Correspondence 
10. Presentation of Awards 
11. Discussion of general business 
12. Destroying of the ballots
13. Vote of thanks 
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Standing Orders 

1. (a) A member shall stand when addressing the Chairman.

 (b) Speeches are to be clear and relevant to the subject before the meeting. 

2. A member shall only address the meeting when called upon by the 
Chairman to do so, after which, he/she shall immediately take his/her seat.

3. No member shall address the meeting except through the Chairman.

4. A member may not speak twice on the same subject except: 

(a) The mover of a motion who has the right of reply

(b) He/she rises to object or to explain (with the permission of the 
Chairman).

5. The mover of a “Procedural Motion” (Adjournment, lay on the table, Motion 
to Postpone) shall have no right of reply.

6. No speeches are to be made after the “Question” has been put and carried 
or negated.

7. A member rising on a “Point of Order” is to state the point clearly and 
concisely. (A point of Order” must have relevance to the Standing Orders).

8. A member shall not “Call another member to order” but may draw the 
attention of the Chair to a “Breach of Order”.

9. Only one amendment should be before the meeting at one and the same 
time.

10. When a motion is withdrawn, any amendment to it fails.

11. The Chairman shall have the right to a “casting vote”.

12. If there is equality of voting on an amendment, and if the Chairman does 
not exercise his casting vote, the amendment is lost.

13. Provision is to be made for protection by the Chairman from vilification 
(personal abuse).

14. No member shall impute improper motives against another member. 
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Minutes of Annual General Meeting 2016
held on Friday, April 22, 2016 at the PETROTRIN Pointe-à-Pierre Club

1.0 Call to Order

The Chairman, Mr. Ronald F. Jones, called the Meeting to order at 4:40 p.m. and members sang the 
National Anthem. 

2.0 Notice Convening Meeting

The Chairman advised that there were six hundred and twenty-four (624) members registered at the 
time of convening the Meeting. As such, there was a quorum.

He invited the Honorary Secretary, Mrs. Sandra Matthews-Noel, to read the Notice of the Annual 
General Meeting.

3.0 Invocation

The Credit Union Prayer was 
recited by the members present.

4.0 Minute of Silence

One minute silence was observed 
for all members who passed away 
during the past year.

5.0 Safety Briefing

Officer Shastri Sankar of the PETROTRIN Fire Department, Pointe-à-Pierre, gave a safety briefing.

6.0 President’s Address

6.1. The President, Mr. Ronald F. Jones, on behalf of the Board of Directors, welcomed all members 
present to the 69th Annual General Meeting.

6.2. Mr. Jones highlighted that the Credit Union was celebrating its 70th Anniversary, a Platinum 
Jubilee, and gave a brief history of the Credit Union.

6.3. Members were advised that the amended Bye-Laws were approved by the Commissioner for 
Co-operative Development on December 7, 2015, by which the Nominating Committee was 
authorised to treat with persons offering themselves for election as Officers.

6.4. The President indicated that teller services had been moved to the ground floor and that the 
Credit Union was seeking a new facility for the Point Fortin branch. Members were advised 
that in December 2015, refurbishment of TECU’s Coral Reef guest house in Tobago had been 
completed and that since its opening, the facility had received high praise from guests.
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MINUTES OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (CONTINUED)

6.5. All committed volunteer Officers were thanked for their 
service and reminded of the guidelines laid out by the 
Governance Committee as to the qualities that Officers, and 
in particular Directors, should possess  and portray, namely 
maturity, intelligence, knowledge, experience, understanding 
and wisdom.

6.6. Members were advised that TECU was approaching a $2 
billion asset base in 2016.

6.7. In closing, the President thanked all members for supporting 
the Credit Union to becoming what it is today.

7.0 Standing Orders

7.1 A motion for the adoption of the Standing Orders was moved by Mr. Kent Byer and seconded 
by Mr. Gabriel Williams. All were in favour of the motion.

8.0 Specially invited guests

8.1 The Chairman acknowledged the presence of specially invited guests: Representative of 
the Ministry of Labour, Small & Micro Enterprise Development, Ms. Deborah-Ann Scott; 
Representatives of the Co-operative Division, Ms. Irene Hamid, Ms. Elizabeth Spence, Ms. 
Carlene Cayenne, Ms. Aazida Mohammed and Ms. Shelly Ann Hannibal; Specialist, Office of the 
Commissioner for Co-operative Development, Mr. David Moe; Representative from HOBSONS 
Attorneys-at-law & Notaries Public, Mr. Romney Thomas; General Manager of Cannings Credit 
Union Co-operative Society Limited, Mr. Stephen Atwell; Representative of CLICO, Mr. Jemmot 
Manmohan; Representatives of KPMG, Ms. Deena Goorahoo and Ms. Senille Joseph; and 
President of the Police Credit Union, Mr. Fitzroy Frederick.

9.0 Errors and Omissions

9.1 There were no errors or omissions.

10.0 Adoption of Minutes of the 68th Annual General Meeting

10.1 The Minutes of the 68th Annual General Meeting with no errors and omissions were subsequently 
taken as read. On a motion moved by Mr. Shaffayate Ali and seconded by Ms. Patricia Phillip-
Edwards the Minutes were adopted. All were in favour of the motion.

11.0 Matters Arising

11.1 Mr. Anthony Soochit indicated that he had a concern relative to the distribution of the Chaguanas 
lands, specifically with the method to be used, and that he would like to see transparency, 
impartiality and no nepotism. He highlighted that he hoped his concern did not fall on deaf 
ears.
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MINUTES OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (CONTINUED)

12.0 Board of Directors’ Report

12.1 A motion that all reports be taken as read was moved by Mr. Stephen Tang and seconded by Mr. 
Hercial Vitalis. All were in favour of the motion.

12.2 The Board of Directors’  Report was adopted on a motion moved by Mr. Roger Louis Mike and 
seconded by Mr. Norman Arjoon. All were in favour of the motion.

13.0 Supervisory Committee Report

13.1 Mr. Brent Zephyrine indicated 
that the Supervisory 
Committee acts as an Internal 
Audit Committee and is 
required under the Act to 
report on its findings. He 
thanked the Committee for 
its comprehensive report 
but noted the omission of a 
letter of complaint that had been submitted in March 2015 on a matter where two (2) Officers 
were accused of wrong doing. Mr. Zephyrine noted that he understood the Committee had 
conducted an investigation and that a conclusion had been reached; however, the membership 
was not being appraised of the matter. He enquired why the matter had been omitted from the 
report.

13.2 The Chairman advised members that Mr. Brent Zephyrine had a matter in the High Court and 
that the matter was sub judice. The membership would be advised when the matter was 
determined by the High Court. Mr. Anthony Soochit indicated that he supported the Chairman 
that the matter could not be discussed until it was determined.

13.3 A motion for the adoption of the Supervisory Committee Report was moved by Mr. Hercial 
Vitalis and seconded by Mr. Lester Maharaj. All were in favour of the motion.

14.0 Credit Committee Report

14.1 A motion for the adoption of the Credit Committee Report was moved by Mr. Stephen Tang and 
seconded by Ms. Charlene Tang. All were in favour of the motion.

15.0 Education Committee Report

14.2 A motion for the adoption of the Education Committee Report was moved by Mr. Gabriel 
Williams and seconded by Mr. Akil Myers. All were in favour of the motion.
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16.0 Nominating Committee Report

16.1 The Chairman advised the 
membership that for the first time 
in the Credit Union’s history a 
Nominating Committee had been 
appointed to fast track the election 
process through interviews that were 
conducted with persons who were 
desirous of standing for election. 
Twenty-four (24) persons had been 
recommended by the Committee 
for election as Officers. All necessary 
due diligence had been followed.

16.2 Mr. Stephen Ramsden enquired whether this process disqualified nominations from the floor 
and the President indicated that it did not.

16.3 A motion for the adoption of the Nominating Committee Report was moved by Mr. Peter 
Williams and seconded by Mr. Stephen Ramsden. All were in favour of the motion.

17.0 Financial Statements 

17.1 The Independent Auditor’s Report was presented by Ms. Deena Goorahoo of KPMG.

17.2 Mr. Anthony Soochit indicated that in the time since the Annual Report had been received, 
he did not have sufficient time to review the Audited Financial Statements and come up with 
questions. He highlighted that the Annual Report should be sent out to the membership well 
in advance of the Meeting to allow time for review. The President advised Mr. Soochit that he 
agreed with him and offered apologies for the late receipt of the Annual Reports. 

17.3 The membership was assured that the General Manager would field concerns on any day 
following the Annual General Meeting (AGM).

17.4 Mr. Bachan Pariag highlighted that going to the General Manager’s office after the AGM would 
not be as valuable as raising concerns at the AGM with the support of the general membership 
to voice concern.

17.5 Mr. Godfrey Ransome indicated that in the Statement of Income on page 51 the provision for 
doubtful debts was just about $1 million and for 2014 it had been $2 million. Loans to members 
increased and given the current economic climate a larger provision should be made.

17.6 In response, the Honorary Treasurer advised that on page 68, Note 8 (a) showed that the 
provision was increased from $23 million to $30 million. The delinquency was $27 million and 
standard practices dictated that the provision should exceed delinquency.

17.7 Mr. Ransome further articulated that he was seeing a lot of deviation from the core business 
of the Credit Union and enquired whether this was a new model. In response, the Chairman 
advised that the Credit Union was making investments with excess funds as the membership 
was not taking a lot of loans.

MINUTES OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (CONTINUED)
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Rev. Fr. Maurus Maingot O.P., O.S.B., P.P. - Founder
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17.8. Mr. Daniel Bisnath indicated that on the basis of 
everything said there were a few issues and he 
recommended that the meeting be deferred 
to a later date to allow members time to 
review the Audited Financial Statements. The 
Chairman advised that the Annual Report was 
on the Credit Union’s website for the past week 
and could have been accessed by members. 

17.9 Members were not in agreement with the 
recommendation and the Meeting proceeded.

17.10 The Honorary Treasurer drew members’ 
attention to page 51, Repayment of Impaired 
Investment Income, and advised that in 
July 2015 the Government of the Republic 
of Trinidad and Tobago reimbursed CLICO 

policyholders, and that TECU received $66 million together with interest in the sum of $33 
million. 15% was outstanding and would be paid when CLICO’s assets were liquidated.

17.11 Mr. Ransome recommended that a summary budget statement be included in the Annual 
Report.

17.12 The Audited Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2015, were adopted on a 
motion moved by Mr. Hercial Vitalis and seconded by Mr. Stephen Tang. All were in favour.

18.0 Election of Officers

18.1 The Chairman advised that at 5:38 p.m. there were four hundred and forty (440) members 
present. He invited Ms. Deborah-Ann Scott of the Office of the Commissioner of Co-operative 
Development to preside over the election of Officers.

18.2 Ms. Scott congratulated TECU on the establishment of a Nominating Committee and advised 
the membership that Mr. Omar Romero and Ms. Candice Sarwan of ROSE IT Services Limited 
would be counting the ballots via an electronic system. The membership was instructed on 
how the voting process would be conducted.

18.3 The Nominees for the Supervisory Committee were Shaun Biran, Roger Bissesar, Kym Chan 
Chow, Dianne Lochan, Peter Machikan, Stephen Ramsden, Anthony Solomon, Tabitha Thomas 
and Hercial Vitalis. There were no nominations from the floor. 

18.4 A motion to cease nominations was moved by Mr. Shaffayate Ali and seconded by Ms. Camille 
Cova. All were in favour of the motion.

18.5 The Nominees were invited to introduce themselves to the membership. Ms. Deborah-Ann Scott 
read correspondence from Ms. Kym Chan Chow, who was absent at the time of the Meeting 
due to a prior commitment, expressing her willingness to serve on the Supervisory Committee.

MINUTES OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (CONTINUED)
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18.6 The Nominees for the Credit Committee were Norman Arjoon, Michelle Badal, Inga Crichlow, 
Wesley Huggins, Roger Louis Mike, Lucy Ottley and Stephen Tang. There were no nominations 
from the floor.

18.7 A motion to cease nominations was moved by Mr. Selvon Grant and seconded by Mr. Ogeer Ali.

18.8 The Nominees were invited to introduce themselves to the membership.

18.9 The Nominees for the Board of Directors were Joyann Ali-Jahoor, Kent Byer, Gregory Cova, 
Kenneth Lennox Lewis, Lester Maharaj, Jason Matthews, Dionysia Mc Lean-Gittens and Brent 
Zephyrine. There were no nominations from the floor.

18.10 A motion to cease nominations was moved by Mr. Ogeer Ali and seconded by Ms. Majorie Leiba.

18.11 The Nominees were invited to introduce themselves to the membership.

18.12 Some members expressed reservation about the process and queried how one could be 
certain of the principle of one man one vote. Mr. Hector Wharwood suggested that when 
members hand in their ballot paper, the bands received upon registration could be cut off to 
show that they had cast their ballot. Other members indicated that they did not receive bands 
upon registration so that recommendation will not work. Mr. Shaffayate Ali indicated that there 
had never been an issue with the election in past years, so there was no reason why members 
should be querying it now.

19.0 Resolution for the Appointment of Auditors

19.1 A Resolution for the appointment of Grant Thornton – ORBIT Solutions as external Auditors for 
the financial year 2016 was tabled by Mr. Mitra C. C. Attai for ratification by the membership. 

19.2 A motion to adopt the Resolution was moved by Mr. Selvon Grant and seconded by Mr. Lester 
Maharaj. All were in favour of the motion.

20.0 Resolution to Declare a Dividend

20.1 A Resolution for payment of a dividend of 3% for 2015 was tabled by the Chairman for ratification 
by the membership.

20.2 A motion to adopt the Resolution was moved by Mr. Winston Babwah and seconded by Mr. 
Derek Matthews-Noel. All were in favour of the motion.

21.0 Resolution to write off bad debt

20.3 The Chairman tabled a Resolution and advised members that all efforts had been expended 
to recover the debt and that the membership was being asked to ratify the sum of seventy 
thousand six hundred and seventy-seven ($70,677.37) dollars and thirty-seven cents be written 
off by the Society.

20.4 A motion to adopt the Resolution was moved by Ms. Camille Cova and seconded by Mr. Akil 
Myers. All were in favour of the motion.

MINUTES OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (CONTINUED)
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22.0 Correspondence

22.1 There was no correspondence.

23.0 Presentation of Awards

Member of the Year - Mr. Anthony Walker was named Member 
of the Year on the basis that he has been a member for forty-
four (44) years and utilised all aspects of TECU’s operations. The 
Chairman made the presentation to Mr Walker’s daughter, Ms. 
Natalie Walker.

Door Prizes

1st Prize - Seven hundred and fifty dollars ($750.00) in TECU 
shares and a hamper was won by Mr. Mewalal Bissessar.

2nd Prize - Five hundred and fifty dollars ($550.00) in TECU shares and a hamper was won by Mr. Daniel 
Bisnath.

3rd Prize - Three hundred and fifty dollars ($350.00) in TECU shares and a hamper was won by  
Ms. Gemma Rodney.

24.0 Results of Elections 

The votes for the Supervisory Committee were as follows:

Ms. Dianne Lochan -  293
Mr. Anthony Solomon -  268
Mr. Hercial Vitalis -  256
Mr. Stephen Ramsden -  243
Ms. Tabitha Thomas -  217
Mr. Roger Bissessar -  206
Ms. Kym Chan Chow -  199
Mr. Peter Machikan -  180
Mr. Shaun Biran -  116

The following members were elected to the Supervisory Committee:

Ms. Dianne Lochan -  293
Mr. Anthony Solomon -  268
Mr. Hercial Vitalis -  256
Mr. Stephen Ramsden -  243
Ms. Tabitha Thomas -  217
Mr. Roger Bissessar -  206 (First Alternate)
Ms. Kym Chan Chow -  199 (Second Alternate)

MINUTES OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (CONTINUED)
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The votes for the Credit Committee were as follows:

Mr. Stephen Tang - 338
Ms. Luch Ottley - 319
Ms. Inga Crichlow - 314
Ms. Michelle Badal - 288
Mr. Norman Arjoon - 255
Mr. Wesley Huggins - 241
Mr. Roger Louis Mike - 233

The following members were elected to the Credit Committee:

Mr. Stephen Tang - 338
Ms. Luch Ottley - 319
Ms. Inga Crichlow - 314
Ms. Michelle Badal - 288
Mr. Norman Arjoon - 255
Mr. Wesley Huggins - 241 (First Alternate)
Mr. Roger Louis Mike - 233 (Second Alternate)

The votes for the Board of Directors were as follows:

Mr. Kent Byer  - 290
Mr. Brent Zephyrine - 242
Mr. Jason Matthews - 210
Ms. Joyann Ali-Jahoor - 209
Mr. Gregory Cova - 191
Mr. Kenneth Lennox Lewis - 184
Mr. Lester Maharaj - 159
Ms. Dionysia Mc Lean-Gittens - 111

The following members were elected to the Board of Directors:

Mr. Kent Byer  - 290
Mr. Brent Zephyrine - 242
Mr. Jason Matthews - 210
Ms. Joyann Ali-Jahoor - 209
Mr. Gregory Cova - 191 (First Alternate)
Mr. Kenneth Lennox Lewis - 184 (Second Alternate)

A motion for destruction of the ballots was moved by Mr. Shaffayate Ali and seconded by Mrs. Tracy 
Ramsden-Boyce. All were in favour of the motion.

The Chairman congratulated the newly elected Officers for the 2016/2017 term.

MINUTES OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (CONTINUED)
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The  First Executive: Carl R. Camps (President), Clyde O. Camps (Vice President) and Samuel A. Byam (Hon. Secretary)

Excerpt from the first Meeting book, listing the names of the 12 members 
who signed the application for registration of the Credit Union.
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25.0 General Business

25.1 Mr. Shaffayate Ali congratulated the Officers of the Co-operative Development Division for the 
conduct of the elections. He also commented that all Officers with the exception of one (1), Mr. 
Brent Zephyrine, were properly attired and highlighted that Officers should show respect for 
the membership.

25.2 Mr. Ali also indicated that he had visited Coral Reef several times and that it was evident that 
a lot of thought had gone into the refurbishment, and that the Resort was of an international 
standard. He also recommended upgrading the Mayaro facility.

25.3 Mrs. Tracy Ramsden-Boyce highlighted that advertising expenditure had increased by 
$500,000.00 and income has increased by $42,000.00. She recommended utilising the staff at 
the counters to advertise on behalf of the Credit Union. Members needed to understand the 
benefits of using the services of the Credit Union, which resulted in the dividend received. The 
Chairman advised that the Education Committee would host sessions to inform and educate 
the membership on these issues.

25.4 Ms. Liselle Skeete indicated that this was her first AGM and that she thoroughly enjoyed it. She 
extended congratulations to the Board of Directors on a job well done.

25.5 Mr. Stephen Tang advised that in the 70th anniversary year, he planned to give back to the 
community and the membership. He invited members who wished to enhance their earnings 
to meet with him for financial advice as he would be at TECU daily from 10:00 a.m. to 2:00 p.m.

25.6 Mr. Anthony Soochit congratulated the Chairman on his handling of the meeting and wished 
the Board of Directors success in the future.

26.0 Vote of Thanks

26.1 Mr. Kent Byer offered the vote of thanks on behalf of the Board of Directors.

26.2 The Annual General Meeting concluded at 7:34 p.m.

(Original signed by the Honorary Secretary)

MINUTES OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (CONTINUED)
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Board of Directors

  Kent Byer Sandra Matthews-Noel Mitra C.C. Attai 
  Vice President Hon. Secretary Hon. Treasurer

 Ronald F. Jones 
 President

 Joy Ann Ali-Jahoor  Kenneth Allum André Hosein Leroy Fermin

 Ian-Michael Haynes Jason Matthews  Gemma Warner Brent Zephyrine
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Report of the Directors

Fellow Co-operators

Your Board of Directors (“Board”) takes pleasure in submitting this report on its stewardship for the fiscal period 
under review January 1, 2016 to December 31, 2016. The following members comprised the Board:

Ronald F. Jones   President
Kent Byer  Vice President
Mitra C.C. Attai  Honorary Treasurer
Sandra Matthews-Noel  Honorary Secretary
Joyann Ali-Jahoor  Member
Kenneth Allum   Member 
Leroy Fermin  Member
Ian-Michael Haynes  Member
André Hosein  Member
Jason Matthews  Member
Gemma Warner  Member
Brent Zephyrine   Member

TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited (TECU) is pleased to report another successful year of 
attending to the financial needs of its valued membership (41,582 members as at December 31, 2016) and 
improving the quality of life for those we serve in addition to the communities in which the Credit Union 
operates. Against this backdrop, the market environment for financial services in 2016 was challenging due to 
a low-growth economy, low interest rates and periods of market instability. Through astute decision making, 
TECU has effectively navigated these conditions and remains committed and focused on ensuring its financial 
foundation is always strong. The Board is dedicated to disciplined financial management, fixated on achieving 
high-quality growth, with carefully managed exposure to risk. Instead of focussing on financial gains at any 
cost, our first priority in the decisions we make is always the well-being of our members and their communities. 

The Board seeks to support the growth of the economy that impacts the daily lives of the membership and 
their communities. Our decisions are not only about maximising financial capital but also about taking into 
account the roles of human, social and natural capital as well. When these four factors intersect, the Board and 
Management are able to have the biggest impact in its work to build healthy communities. TECU supports 
both its members and their communities because one cannot prosper without the other. The key assets that 
are relied upon are talent (both in leadership and employees), deep relationships with the membership and 
affiliate partners and a strong balance sheet. These assets are used to:

==> Build relationships based on trust and deliver quality financial services and guidance

==> Engage with members, communities and affiliate partners to develop innovative solutions to 
meet their needs

==> Deepen the positive impact we have on members and their communities.

This approach encourages members to do business with TECU.

TECU’s digital platforms (i.e. Website, Facebook and Twitter) have significantly expanded the Credit Union’s 
brand awareness with the key millennial demographic (aged 18-34). The recently refurbished TECU Coral Reef 
Guest House in Tobago has also benefited from this initiative. 
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1971: Directors Winston G. Ayoung (left) and James Babb 
(centre) witnessing sod turning at Sum Sum Hill, by Mr. Howard 
R. Wilson, President and General Manager of Texaco Trinidad Inc.
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

The Board and Management worked diligently to transform the traditional business model to become 
more agile in the challenging business environment. An important facet of the transformation involved the 
upgrading of the Credit Union’s core operating system to improve overall efficiency, while at the same time 
laying the platform for the introduction of internet and mobile services to enhance TECU’s reach and service 
delivery channels. 

TECU continued to execute its 2014–2018 Strategic Plan. In 2016, key performance targets were surpassed, 
notwithstanding the competitive environment. Assets grew to approximately $2 billion and the Credit Union 
recorded a Net Surplus, on core business, of $55.3 million (a 36% increase year over year) while growing 
members’ shares to almost $1.5 billion (a 6.2% increase) and the loan base to $699.5 million (an 11% increase). 

In 2016, TECU celebrated seventy (70) years of excellent service and continues to earn the respect of its peers 
in the financial services sector and its regulator. The Credit Union has established itself as one of the leading 
credit unions in the country and the region, due to its demonstration of dedicated service and responsiveness 
to the needs of its membership. The growth of the organisation endures due to the diligence and commitment 
of staff together with the voluntary service by officers and committee members. In celebration of its Platinum 
Anniversary, a number of events were undertaken, commencing with a church service held at our birth place, 
St. Peter’s Roman Catholic Church in Pointe-à-Pierre, where TECU started under the visionary leadership 
of Fr. Maurus Maingot. TECU also commissioned the chronicling of its history for the period 1946 to 2016. 
Additionally, increased investments were made in youth development in the fields of academia, school 
outreach programmes, sport and community improvements, and a donation was made to the St. Peter’s R. C. 
Church.

TECU’s mission compels those who serve to “improve the quality of life and sustain the confidence of our 
members by providing excellent returns, innovative products and superior services”. It also drives our 
measurement of success in terms of how we contribute to the well-being of both our members and their 
communities – not only financially, but also socially and environmentally. 

A Board-appointed Business Process Improvement Committee was established and reviewed numerous key 
procedures that resulted in the following notable enhancements: 

==> Streamlining of workflows 
==> Improved member experience
==> Reduced cost (e.g. elimination of vouchers, consolidation of members’ statements, etc.) 
==> New product offerings

Training and Development

In 2016, TECU conducted six (6) major seminars: 

==> Debt Management 
==> Budgeting 
==> Strategies for Saving 
==> Investment and Home Ownership 
==> Fraud Prevention 
==> Retirement and Estate Planning 
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Economic Review

According to the Central Bank of Trinidad and Tobago (CBTT), the Trinidad and Tobago economy contracted by 
6.7% in the first half of 2016 and is expected to further contract. The latest revised estimates from the Ministry 
of Finance show an overall deficit of $7.3 billion (5% of Gross Domestic Product [GDP]) on the fiscal accounts for 
financial year 2015/16, compared with an initially budgeted deficit of $2.8 billion. Activity in the major sectors 
decreased across the board in 2016.

The CBTT Economic Bulletin (March 2017) also reported that for the second half of 2016, oil and natural gas 
production were lower by 7.7% and 15.4%, respectively. These factors have contributed significantly to the 
decline in GDP for the period.

The CBTT Bulletin also goes on to state that the unemployment rate increased to 4.4% in the second quarter of 
2016 from 3.2% in the corresponding period in 2015. The pace of job separation appeared to have declined as 
fewer retrenchment notices were filed at the Ministry of Labour and Small Enterprise Development in the last 
six months of 2016 from the earlier period. The number of persons with jobs fell by 16,200.  

The CBTT policy rate remained flat for 2016 at 4.75% since the 25 basis point increase in December 2015. CBTT’s 
rationale for unchanged rates was due to the overall economic conditions, the weak inflationary pressures and 
the current and anticipated trajectory of external interest rates. 

The foreign exchange market continues to be strained by subdued activity in the energy sector, which generally 
has been the key source of currency for authorised dealers. Inflows from the energy sector decreased by 20% 
year over year over January to October 2016. The TT dollar depreciated by 5% over 2016 versus the US dollar. 

Financial Year in Review

In 2016, growth expectations were tempered by continuing economic pressures, tough competition from 
other financial institutions and weak consumer demand and spending. The strategic priorities for 2016 reflected 
the Credit Union’s commitment to continue pushing forward on a transformation agenda and focus on driving 
innovation to grow the loan portfolio and reduce cost. The Board and Management also concentrated on 
implementing a strategy to ensure that the Credit Union is able to capture emerging and future trends beyond 
traditional financial services. 

The economic environment in 2016, though challenging, still presented some opportunities. Generally, TECU’s 
operating performance was strong with significant growth in key financial areas. The membership continued 
to demonstrate its confidence in TECU and this was reflected in the 6% growth in Members Shares from $1.40 
billion to $1.49 billion. Total assets grew by $115.5 million (6% growth year on year) to approximately $2 billion 
at the end of 2016. This was driven largely by investments and 11% growth in the loan portfolio ($67.2 million). 
Revenue from core operating activities (net of Repayment of Impaired Investment Income) stood at $101.5 
million, an increase of 18% year on year ($15.7 million). There was a 22% overall increase in expenses year on 
year and this was primarily due to a rise in Administrative costs (Data Processing and Depreciation) and Salaries, 
Wages and Associated Expenses. TECU’s Net Surplus recorded a Repayment of Impaired Investment Income of 
$22.2 million, which emanated from the residual balance of funds from the CLICO investment. 
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The following table compares TECU’s performance for 2015 and 2016:

  2016 2015 Changes 2016 - 2015

  TT$M TT$M TT$M % Change

Assets 1,989.7 1,874.2 115.5 6

Liabilities 1,779.8 1,697.2 82.6 5

Members’ Shares 1,491.6 1,405.7 85.9 6

Loans to Members 699.5 632.3 67.2 11

Investments 1,038.7 1,066.4 (27.7) (3)

Loans Granted 330.8 295 35.8 12

Income 136 122.6 13.4 11

Expenses 58.6 48.3 10.3 22

Net Surplus (Core Business) 55.3 40.7 14.6 36

Membership 41,582 40,371 1,211 3

Growth in Assets

Assets increased by $115.5 million (6%) from $1.88 billion in 2015 to 
$1.99 billion in 2016, due primarily to an increase in the Investment and 
Lending portfolios. The Credit Union performed laudably in surpassing 
its Loans Granted budgeted total ($331 million against a budget of 
$300 million). The major areas of increased lending were in Mortgages 
and Character Loans. 

Loan Balances

Loans to Members grew by $67.2 million (11%) to $699.5 million, with 
Mortgages accounting for 17% of this growth, while Character Loans 
was the other major contributor with a 10% increase. Mortgages 
increased by $33 million and was generated throughout the branch 
network due to a series of very successful Mortgage Expos. Growth in 
Character Loans accounted for a $35 million improvement in the loan 
portfolio and was due in part to the Platinum Loan product. 

Growth in Investments

TECU’s Investment Portfolio declined by $27.7 million (3%) over 2015. 
Short-term instruments within the investment portfolio declined by 3% 
year on year and is typical of a dynamic portfolio. There was an increase 
in Cash and Cash Equivalents (202% increase over 2015) and this reflects 
the proceeds that are utilised to fund these investment opportunities 
and also accommodate for increased lending to members. 
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Sod turning for the first beach house in Mayaro, 1968.
L-r: Orville George, E. Baptiste, Thomas Benjamin, T.C. Wyatt, 
D. Edghill, Owald M. Paris, L.R. Gibbon, John C. Gomes, Carl 
Cheesman. Person at right is not identified, and turning the sod is 
Mr. Ben Winchester.
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Growth in Members’ Shares

Members’ shares continued to increase and the 6% growth ($85.9M) 
in 2016 demonstrates the membership’s sustained confidence in the 
Credit Union’s ability to provide a safe haven for their funds and pay a 
reasonable rate of return. 

Revenue

Total Income increased 11% ($13.4M) year on year and was a combination 
of TECU’s core operating activities (18%) and the collection of the final 
tranche of the Credit Union’s CLICO investment ($22.2M in interest). 
TECU continues to transform its business model to promote greater 
lending opportunities and promote product offerings that are more in 
line with members’ needs. 

Interest Income

The core Income Stream of the Credit Union is Interest Income from 
Loans and Investments. Interest derived from loans amounted to $62 
million or 49% and the Investment Income amounted to $43.6 million 
or 34%. 
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Expenses

Expense Management continues to be a major focus for 
TECU and significant initiatives were undertaken to prudently 
manage costs. An overall increase in expenses year over 
year was reduced and this was primarily due to a rise in 
Administrative costs (Data Processing and Depreciation), 
Salaries, Wages and Associated Expenses. Strategies such 
as the optimisation of core/non-core spending, process 
reorganisation, more efficient procurement practices and 
improved asset utilisation are some of the initiatives that 
have resulted in prudent cost management. The increase 
in salaries, wages and associated 
benefits for 2016 were due to the 
increase in emoluments and benefits 
subsequent to the negotiated 
settlement for the Collective 
Agreement for the period 2013 
–2015. Negotiations concluded in 
the third quarter of 2016.
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1971 TECU is awarded the Public Service Medal (Gold) and the CUNA Trophy, both for land development.

Edison Lougheed

1970 Office Manger Mr. Vincent Donatien with his all-female staff. Left to right: Ms. Indra Seebalack, Ms. Gloria 
Carpette, Ms. Rona Huggins, Ms. S. Osborne, Ms. M. Bailey, Ms. Myrna Corneal, Ms. Stella Gobin, Ms. Veronica 
Thomas, Ms. Y. Jadoo and Ms. E. Ahyew.
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Growth in Membership 

TECU’s membership grew to 41,582 in 2016, which translates to an 
increase of 3%. The demographic of major growth was in the 18–34 age 
group and our focus for product offerings and services speak to that 
demographic.

Delinquency

TECU’s Credit Management team continued to demonstrate diligence and persistence in its collection 
activities and also in working with members who have been experiencing challenges in loan repayment. The 
delinquency figure as at December 31, 2016 was 4.98% and totalled $36,488,119 (in 2015 the delinquency rate 
was 4.15%, totalling $27,624,723). 

Future Developments

Credit Management - Innovative collection strategies and loan restructuring will be ongoing in the face of 
rising unemployment. In 2017, another planned feature of the system upgrade will be the introduction of 
payment restructuring, to lend additional support to those members who may be challenged even further 
by personal or professional exigencies. Members must therefore play their part in seeking to honour their 
commitments and work with the staff to ensure mutually agreeable and comfortable loan conditions. 

Information and Communications Technology – With the ‘go live’ date for the upgraded platform having 
occurred on December 5, 2016 and having resolved the vast majority of the priority risk issues, the major 
technological development expected in 2017 would be the implementation of the Internet and Mobile Banking 
modules. This is scheduled for a limited test run in April 2017 with a full roll-out of the facility before mid-
year 2017. Members’ safety and security will not be compromised with the onset of this phase of automated 
services, as TECU has engaged a reputable firm to conduct an ICT Risk Assessment and advise on fortifying the 
system against cyber threats. Internet and Mobile Banking will essentially reduce our cost of operation and 
enhance overall productivity as members will be able to enjoy 24 hour access to their TECU accounts. The full 
range of TECU services will be available at the click of a button. This will not only significantly change the way 
TECU conducts business, but also elevate TECU’s standing in the financial services sector, and lays a foundation 
for sustainability and increased revenue. Our valued membership will also enjoy a new and improved level of 
service and accessibility to our products and services. 

Property Development - TECU Coral Reef (TCR) re-commenced operations in early 2016 and received rave 
reviews. During the period June to August, TCR enjoyed average occupancy rates of 49% and during the last 
quarter recorded an average occupancy of 51% (with October registering 64%). As a full-fledged member of 
the Tobago Hoteliers Association, TCR enjoys increased visibility via marketing journals and inclusion on key 
industry websites. Further work is to be undertaken in 2017 to enhance the facility, including upgrading of the 
walkways, landscaping and refurbishing of older rooms. Members are encouraged to visit and sample the Coral 
Reef experience. 

Phase 1 of the Soogrim Trace South, Chaguanas Project (also known as Egypt Trace), comprising 55 residential 
lots, will be completed in the first quarter of 2017 and the process of land acquisition by the membership will 

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
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commence during the second quarter. Phase 2 includes 29 residential lots and is scheduled to be completed 
by the third quarter of 2017, with land distribution occurring by year-end. The electrification aspect of the 
project was finally approved by T&TEC in 2017 and will be completed by the end of the second quarter of 2017.  

Operational Priorities – these priorities will include:

==> Further upgrade of the Credit Union Information System 

==> Increasing internal capacity to further meet members’ needs and build relationships

==> Developing Credit Policies and Practices to restructure the Credit Union’s lending 

The Year Ahead - 2017

The International Monetary Fund projects modest GDP 
growth of 1.8% in 2017 versus the projected contraction of 
2.8% in 2016. In the non-energy sector, growth is expected 
to be positive, albeit slower than in previous years. Capital 
projects undertaken primarily by the Central Government 
are expected to stimulate activity, predominantly in the 
construction sub-sector, providing some measure of fiscal 
stimulus to the economy. The uncertainty surrounding 
the timing of the monetary policy normalisation in the US 
remains an immediate downside risk to the economy of 
Trinidad and Tobago. 

Narrowing interest rate differentials could heighten risks of 
capital outflows and exchange rate pressures. Furthermore, 
potentially lower foreign exchange earnings will be as a result of lower energy prices coupled with lower 
tax revenues due to higher capital allowances for energy companies. Moreover, critical spending on security, 
healthcare and social programmes will continue. 

The 2016/2017 national budget was predicated on an oil price of US$48 per barrel and gas prices of US$2.25 
per MMBTU (Million British Thermal Units). West Texas Intermediate prices closed at US$50.60 at the end of 
January 2017. The volatility in the energy market remains a risk to Trinidad and Tobago, given the budgeted 
prices. 

Interest rates are expected to remain flat within the next few months given the current economic status. 
Commercial bank credit to the private sector expanded by 3.7% on a year on year basis in August 2016. This 
expansion was as a result of growth in consumer credit (7.4%) and real estate mortgage loans (5.8%).

TECU will continue its strategic focus on improving members’ experience when accessing the services 
and products, while Interest Income from loans will help support investments in strategic initiatives. These 
investments are expected to benefit TECU in achieving its long-term success but may impact earnings in 
the short-term. The strategic initiatives are geared to growing the millennial market, youth development, 
community development and value added member programs. 

Other key initiatives in 2017 will include continued efforts to build brand awareness, continued implementation 
of our Process Transformation Programme, execution on new product offerings, evaluation of asset-liability 
management and an assessment of internal technology systems that support decision making.

-3.0 -2.0 -1.0 0.0 1.0 2.0 3.0

Trinidad & Tobago

Guyana

jamaica

Barbados

The Bahamas

IMF GDP Growth Projections for the Caribbean

Expected GDP Growth 2016Expected GDP Growth 2017
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A LOAN for any reason...
     for every season.

Contact Details:
Marabella | Couva | Point Fortin
800-TECU (8328)
www.tecutt.com

TECU
Credit Union

Low interest rates
Quick and easy funds
No processing fees
Free loan insurance up to $150,000

Live Your Life
   “Creating and Securing Your Future”

Special Conditions Apply
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The Board, Management and Staff remain committed to employing long-term strategies to further strengthen 
TECU’s institutional capital. 

Attendance Record

The Board of Directors held thirteen (13) Statutory Meetings and seven (7) Special Board Meetings. The table 
below indicates attendance at these 2016 meetings:

BOARD ATTENDANCE

Statutory Board Meetings Special Board Meetings

Name Present Absent Excused Present Absent Excused

Ronald F. Jones 12 - 1 6 - 1

Kent Byer 11 - 2 7 - -

Mitra C.C. Attai 10 - 3 6 - 1

Sandra Matthews-Noel 10 - 3 6 - 1

Joyann Ali-Jahoor 8 - 2 4 - 1

Kenneth Allum 8 - 5 5 - 2

Leonard Chan Chow 1 1 - 2 - - 2

Gregory Cova 2 3 - - 2 - 1

Natalie Danclar-Rodney 3 - - 1 - - -

Leroy Fermin 12 - 1 6 - 1

Ian-Michael Haynes 12 - 1 5 - 2

André Hosein 12 - 1 7 - -

Jason Matthews 7 - 3 5 - -

Gemma Warner 13 - - 6 - 1

Brent Zephyrine 13 - - 5 - 2

1 Statute Barred 
2 Outgoing
3 Resigned

Condolences

The Board extends heartfelt condolences to the families, relatives and friends of our dearly departed members 
and loved ones who would have passed during 2016. We hope that they rest in peace and that you continue 
to celebrate the love and joy of their memories.

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
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Acknowledgments 

Your Board records its appreciation to you, our membership, for your loyal support during the year. Our success 
would not be possible without your commitment and confidence in this noble organisation.

To our members of staff, we acknowledge your dedication and commitment to the continued success of TECU. 

We must recognise our team of volunteers who comprise the statutory committees: the Credit and Supervisory 
Committees. Special salutations also go out to all the appointed committees, namely the Education Committee, 
and other Board-appointed Committees. 

The Board of Directors also wishes to acknowledge the support received from our fellow Co-operators, our 
attorneys, insurers and affiliated companies during 2016.

(Original signed by the Honorary Secretary)
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Status of Credit Union Legislation

1979 Turning of the sod at Marabella. L-r: Oswald Paris, Vincent Donatien, Lloyd Zamore, Edward Stibbs (General 
Manager, Texaco Trinidad Inc.), Winston G. Ayoung, James Babb, John C. Gomes, Thomas Benjamin

Plaque in TECU’s foyer commemorating the opening of TECU House.
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The TECU Couva Office, opened in 2002 

2007 Launch of LinCU Debit Card.
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Celebrating our 70th Anniversary

Mr. Karyl Adams, Commissioner for Co-operative Development 
presents long service award to Mr. Shaffayate Ali

Mr. Ronald F. Jones presents award to Mrs. Sheriba Ali-Rajack 
for long service and first female Honorary Secretary

Mr. L.L. Hercules (r) received his award for long service as 
an Officer/Director from Mr. Ronald F. Jones

Mr. Ronald F. Jones accepting long service award on 
behalf of Mr. John C. Gomes from Mr. Isaac James, 

Permanent Secretary, Ministry of Labour and Small 
Enterprise Development
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Mr. Everard Shand (l) receives award for long service as an 
Officer/Director

Anniversary Service at St. Peter’s R.C. Church, Pointe-à-Pierre. Officiating 
are Deacon Harold Woodruffe and Fr. Godfrey Stoute

Mr. Brian Tangwell presents a gift to Mr. Hollis Smith of Pan 
Elders, three times Panorama champions of medium band 

category

Habitat for Humanity/TECU staff project

Handing out of tokens at TECU’s Anniversary 
September 9th, 2016
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Southern Games Cycling Criterium 2016

Badree’s Academy for Sport Education

Presentation College Footall Team sponsorship

TECU Staff beach cleanup

Charity Dispensation 2016
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Internship Programme 2016

TECU Staff beach cleanup

Southern Games 2016
L-r: George Commissiong, Ken Allum, Jim Clarke 

and Mitra C.C. Attai

Children’s Christmas Party

2016 World Council of Credit Unions Conference  Ireland: 
Mr. Mitra C.C. Attai Honorary Treasurer, Dr. Brian Branch 

W.O.C.C.U. President, Ronald F. Jones  President
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In accordance with TECU’s Bye-Law #40, the 
Supervisory Committee met weekly to review the 
operations of the organization. Forty-eight (48) 
meetings were held by the Committee for this term. 
The Committee’s findings and recommendations 
were submitted to the Board of Directors.

For the 2016/2017 term the Supervisory Committee 
reviewed the following:

1. Anthony Solomon  – Chairman
2. Dianne Lochan – Secretary 
3. Stephen Ramsden  – Officer
4. Tabitha Thomas  – Officer
5. Hercial Vitalis  – Officer

Report of the Supervisory Committee

1) Procurement Policy

 The Supervisory Committee reviewed draft 
versions of the Procurement policy and 
provided comments and suggested changes 
for improvement. The final policy was approved 
by the Board of Directors. The Committee 
expects implementation of the policy in fiscal 
year 2017.

2) Issuance of Members’ Quarterly Statements

 The Supervisory Committee raised concerns 
which were reported by members that 
statements were being dispatched to members 
late. The General Manager informed the 
Committee that there was a problem which 
was resolved with support from the external 
consulting firm.

3) Loan Application Files

 A random sample of members’ loan application 
files was selected for review by the Committee. 
The Committee made recommendations 
for greater due diligence in the loan process 
flow and controls that would ensure staff 
compliance with the approved lending policy 
and procedures.

4) Fixed Deposit Accounts

 From a review of a sample of fixed 
deposit accounts the Committee noted 
areas for improvement and submitted 
recommendations to address those areas.

5) Credit Card Statements

 Credit card statements for the months March, 
April and May 2016 were reviewed for all 
cardholders. The Committee submitted 
recommendations for a policy to improve the 
use and administration of credit cards.

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.
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6) CLICO Investment 

 The Supervisory Committee is pleased to 
report that the remaining 15% of principal and 
interest outstanding to TECU from CLICO has 
been received. 

7) External Auditor’s Management Letter 

 Due to the late receipt of the KPMG Management 
Letter for the year ended December 31, 2015, 
the Supervisory Committee was unable to 
perform follow up work to determine the 
status of the recommendations.

8) Bank Reconciliation and Cash Count

 Bank Reconciliation Statements for the period 
January to August 2016 were reviewed for 
the following financial institutions: RBC Royal 
Bank, Republic Bank Limited, First Citizens 
Bank Limited and Unit Trust Corporation. 
The Committee is pleased to inform the 
membership that there has been great 
improvement in the reconciliation of these 
accounts and open items were actioned in a 
timely manner. 

 A cash count at the TECU Point Fortin branch 
was also conducted. The Committee noted 
an improvement in cash management at the 
branch. There is, however, a lack of storage 
space for member application and transaction 
files. 

9) Board of Directors’ Minutes 

 The Supervisory Committee reviewed Board 
Minutes for the period January to July 2016. 

10) Delinquency

 During the year, the Supervisory Committee 
focused on delinquency as a priority. The 
Credit and Collections reports were reviewed 
and two meetings were held with the General 
Manager and the Recoveries Officer. At the 
first meeting we received an overview of the 
department’s plan for further improvement, 
monitoring and follow-up of delinquent 
accounts. The subsequent meeting was held 
to obtain a status of the initiatives discussed 
at the first meeting. A major milestone noted 
was in relation to the Credit Union Information 
System upgrade that resulted in operational 
efficiencies such as, delinquency management 
and faster communication to members in 
arrears via SMS text messages and telephone 
calls. Overall the Committee noted a concerted 
effort in the performance of the Credit and 
Collections department.

11) Loans, Credit Application Compliance and 
Record Keeping

 The Supervisory Committee reviewed a sample 
of members’ files and was not satisfied with the 
thoroughness and order in which they were 
maintained. Some of the loan application files 
were not comprehensively updated to include 
all the members’ information. Additional review 
work in this area is required.

12) TECU’s Vacation Resorts 

 The Committee visited the following properties:

• Mayaro:  

 Saturday, February 18, 2017

 The Committee found that one beach 
house was operational. The other three 
beach houses were not fit for rental 
purposes. A comprehensive report was 
submitted to the Board with our findings 
and recommendations.

REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)
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• Balandra:  

 Saturday,  March 4, 2017 

 The physical infrastructure was sound; 
however, the furnishings need upgrading.

• Tobago:

 March 10 to 12, 2017

 The Committee was pleased with the 
upgrade works at the Coral Reef Resort. 
The furnishings of the lobby and the rooms 
were elegantly outfitted and comparable 
to the best in the hospitality industry. 
However, there are further works to be 
completed on the facility to improve the 
physical infrastructure such as drainage, 
plumbing and walkways. The Committee 
recommends that a greater marketing 
drive be pursued to increase occupancy.

13) Other matters

 Two interviews were conducted with the 
General Manager during the year concerning 
the organisation structure, employee 
appraisals, new products such as revolving 
student loans, development of millennium 
market (targeting of individuals between the 
ages of 18 to 35 years to provide online and 

mobile facilities) and update on investment 
property at Chaguanas. 

The Supervisory Committee expressed its concerns 
to the Board of Directors with respect to the need 
for improved communications and timely provision 
of requested information by Management. Timely 
provision of requested information is important in 
reviewing the operations of the organization.

The Committee wishes to thank the Board of 
Directors, Management and Staff of TECU for their 
support during this term of office. The Officers of 
the Supervisory Committee express our sincerest 
thanks and appreciation to the members of TECU 
Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited for the 
opportunity given to us to serve for the past year. 
We are grateful for your confidence in our oversight 
role.

The Supervisory Committee 2016/2017 comprised 
of the following:

1. Anthony Solomon  – Chairman 

2. Dianne Lochan  – Secretary 

3. Stephen Ramsden  – Officer

4. Tabitha Thomas   – Officer

5. Hercial Vitalis   – Officer

(Original signed by the Chairman)

REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)
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1. Lucy Ottley - Chair
2. Inga Chrichlow - Secretary
3. Michelle Badal
4. Norman Arjoon
5. Stephen Tang

Report of the Credit Committee

In order to satisfy the requirements of the Co-
operative Societies Act (CSA), as well as the Bye-
Laws of TECU Credit Union, the Credit Committee 
met weekly this past year to conduct the business 
of the Credit Union. One member was on extended 
sick leave which made it necessary to ask the first 
alternate, to fill the position.

During the period under review, a total of 1,705 
loan applications were processed in accordance 
with TECU’s Loan Policy. Careful consideration was 
given to the individual member’s credit history, 
security values and purpose for the loan (all loans 
must be for a provident and productive purpose).

To assist the committee in carrying out its mandate 
effectively, a Loan Officer was assigned to give 
valuable assistance where necessary during the first 
two to three hours of each meeting.

The continued decline in the country’s economy 
and the attendant increase in unemployment were 
reflected in requests for the re-structuring of loans 
by some members. However, due to loan products 
which were structured to assist our members 
through these challenging times, our loan portfolio 
resulted in a positive growth.

At all times the objective of the credit committee is 
to consider each loan on its own merit. The primary 
factor taken into consideration is the member’s 
ability to repay the loan; therefore, a full financial 
picture of the member is a prime requirement. The 
committee has oversight responsibility for all loans 
approved by the Credit Union; with this in mind, 
the committee conducted random examinations 
of loans approved by Loan Officers.

On-going training sessions were arranged by 
TECU’s Credit Team which helped to enhance the 
performance of the committee.

We wish to express thanks to our members for the 
confidence placed in us.

To the Board of Directors, the General Manager, 
Branch Operations Managers, Loan Officers, and 
members of staff who all contributed to the service 
we were able to provide, we express our grateful 
thanks.

(Original signed by the Chairman)

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.
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1. Ian - Michael  Haynes      Chairman
2. Kenneth  Lewis                 Vice  Chairman
3. Nadine  Pirtheesingh       Secretary
4. Alisha  Ramdeen               Assistant  Secretary
5. Jacquline  Newton
6. Brent  Zephyrine
7. Simon  Gowrie
8. Pamela  Dass
9. Jennie  Alleyne
10. Keisha  Francis
11. Daniel  Lewis
12. Joy  Jarvis
13. Stacy  Charles (not in picture)

Report of the Education Committee

The Committee met on a monthly basis to discuss 
the scheduled activities. 

In January, the Committee prepared its Calendar 
of Events and submitted its budget proposals to 
the Board. A team was selected to produce the 
Newsletters which resulted in four (4) publications 
for the year. Through this medium, members were 
kept informed of the activities of the Credit Union 
and its products and services. Articles included 
money matters, health, etiquette and general 
issues.

In May, the Committee went on an appraisal visit 
to TECU’s Coral Reef Resort in Tobago after its 
renovations were completed. The Committee was 
pleased in general with what they observed.

In June, one (1) member of the Education 
Committee was part of the TECU delegation to the 
CCCU ( 2016 ) conference in Orlando, Florida where 
she was exposed to up-to-date trends in credit 
unionism in the Caribbean. Also in July, one (1) 
member attended the World Conference of Credit 
Unions in Belfast, Ireland.

The annual Health Fair was conducted in June in the 
John C. Gomes Auditorium. More than one hundred 
and eighty (180) persons were given health checks. 
Tests included blood pressure, prostate, vision, pap 
smear, alcoholics anonymous and HIV. This event 
was coordinated by Ms. Evette Patsy Chang. 

Three Induction Sessions were held at the John 
C. Gomes Auditorium, TECU House, Marabella. 

1.
2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

10.

12.

11.
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REPORT OF THE EDUCATION COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

These sessions served to inform new members of 
the services, features and activities of the Credit 
Union and also to educate them on the benefits 
of membership. Many attendees asked questions 
and were very interested in the content of the 
presentations. Attendance to these events was 
good as reminders of invitations were done via 
social media. The convenor of these sessions was 
Mr. Simon Gowrie.

The Annual Primary School Quiz was conducted 
during Credit Union Month of October. Twelve (12) 
students from six (6) schools participated in this 
event. San Fernando TML Primary School captured 
the first place. Participating students were awarded 
cash prizes, trophies and tokens. The winning 
school was awarded the TECU Challenge Trophy. 
This competition is a means of educating the 
students about the Credit Union Movement and 
its philosophy, both locally and internationally. Ms. 
Jennie Alleyne coordinated this activity.

In September, the Bursary Awards Function 
was held for successful S.E.A. and Tertiary Level 
applicants at the PETROTRIN Guaracara Sports Club, 
Pointe-à-Pierre. A total of seventy seven (77) awards 
were distributed. The featured speaker was Pastor 
Luke Quamina.

Two (2) Financial Seminars were held during the 
year. These were very well attended. A seminar 
attended by eighty six (86) persons was held 
on ‘Wills and Estate Planning’. The convenor of 
these member development workshops was Ms. 
Jacqueline Newton.

The annual Children’s Christmas Party was 
successfully held on 26 November. Great joy was 
evident on the faces of the children in attendance. 
Mrs. Nadine Pirtheesingh conducted the event.

The Education Committee wishes to express its 
sincere appreciation to the Board of Directors, other 
Committees and the Administrative Staff for their 
unstinting support throughout the past year. We 
look forward to continued support as we pursue 
our mandate of keeping members educated, 
empowered and informed.

(Original signed by the Chairman)
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Management is responsible for the following:

• Preparing and fairly presenting the accredit unioning financial statements of TECU Credit Union Co-
operative Society Limited, which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2016 
the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and 
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information;

• Ensuring that the Credit Union keeps proper accounting records;

• Selecting appropriate accounting policies and applying them in a consistent manner;

• Implementing, monitoring and evaluating the system of internal control that assures security of the Credit 
Union’s assets, detection/prevention of fraud, and the achievement of credit union operational efficiencies;

• Ensuring that the system of internal control operated effectively during the reporting period;

• Producing reliable financial reporting that comply with laws and regulations, including the Cooperative 
Societies Act; and

• Using reasonable and prudent judgement in the determination of estimates.

In preparing these audited financial statements, Management utilised the International Financial Reporting 
Standard, as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and adopted by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Trinidad and Tobago. Where International Financial Reporting Standards presented alternative 
accounting treatments, Management chose those considered most appropriate in the circumstances. Nothing 
has come to the attention of Management to indicate that the Credit Union will not remain a going concern for 
the next twelve months from the reporting date; or up to the date the accredit unioning financial statements 
have been authorised for issue, if later. Management affirms that it has carried out its responsibilities as outlined 
above.

          

Brian Tangwell Adina Nicholson
General Manager Finance Manager
April 12, 2017 April 12, 2017

Statement of Management Responsibilities 
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the members of TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited

Qualified Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited (“the Credit 
Union”), which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2016, and the statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our 
report, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the Credit Union as at December 31, 2016, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Other Matters

The financial statements of TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited for the year ended December 31, 
2015 were audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on April 4, 
2016.

Basis for Qualified Opinion 

The Credit Union’s accounting policy for recognizing loan interest revenue is the cash basis which is not in 
accordance with IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements: Section 27 – Accruals Basis of Accounting. IAS 1 
states that an entity shall prepare its financial statements, except for cash flow information, using the accruals 
basis of accounting. Had the Credit Union recognized interest revenue on the accruals basis; the accounts 
receivables and prepayments balance would have increased by $12.8m in 2016 (2015: $12.7m) and the 
provision would have increased by $11.1m in 2016 (2015: $11.5m). These adjustments will result in an increase 
in the brought forward net surplus attributable to members as at January 1, 2015 of $1.3m,  a decrease of $111k 
as at December 31, 2015 and an increase of $523k as at December 31, 2016 culminating an increase of $1.7m 
as at December 31, 2016.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”).  Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report.  We are independent of the Credit Union in accordance with the International 
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics of Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”) together 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Republic of 
Trinidad and Tobago, and we have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements 
and with the IESBA Code.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in the audit 
of the financial statements of the current period. Key audit matters are selected from matters communicated 
with those charged with governance. These matters were addressed in the context of the audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and the auditor does not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters. 

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter
Revenue Recognition

The Credit Union recognizes loan interest revenue 
on the cash basis. This is not in accordance with IAS 
1 – Presentation of Financial Statements: Section 27 – 
Accruals Basis of Accounting 

We assessed the Credit Union’s accounting policy 
for recognizing loan interest revenue on a cash basis 
for compliance with IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial 
Statements: Section 27 – Accruals Basis of Accounting 

We reviewed management’s adjustments for 
recording revenue on the cash basis. 

We assessed and quantified retrospectively the 
impact on the statement of financial position and 
statement of comprehensive income of recording 
loan interest revenue on the accruals basis. 

Upgrade of the Credit Union’s Financial Software

Oracle Flexcube is the Credit Union’s core financial 
software used to facilitate, process and record all day 
to day transactions.  The Credit Union operates in a 
complex IT environment and is highly dependent on 
its IT system which includes automated controls and 
processes.

In 2016 the Credit Union upgraded the Oracle 
Flexcube application from version 7.3 to 12.0.3.

We gained an understanding of the upgraded system 
including the design of the automated processes and 
controls. 

We assessed the processes put in place to migrate 
any data from Flexcube 7.3 to 12.0.3 and tested 
reconciliations between the systems.

We evaluated the design and tested the operating 
effectiveness of the controls in the upgraded 
system and we performed additional audit testing 
procedures. 

Provision for Loan Loss

Loans to members’ accounts for 35% of the Credit 
Union’s assets while the provision for loan loss 
accounts for 4% of its loans to members.

There is a risk that the provision may be incorrectly 
valued resulting in a misstatement of net surplus for 
the year attributable to members.

We performed testing on the loan loss provision to 
determine whether the provision was reasonable 
and adequate. 

Audit procedures were performed to ensure that the 
system calculated the correct provision based on the 
number of months a member was delinquent.

Independent Auditors’ Report (continued)
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Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the Credit Union’s 2016 Annual Report but does not include the financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereof. The Credit Union’s Annual Report is expected to remain available to us after the date 
of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.

Responsibilities of Management and those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Credit Union’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Credit Union or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Credit Union’s financial reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue the auditors’ report that includes our 
opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

Independent Auditors’ Report (continued)
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Credit Union’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Credit Union’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related 
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Credit Union to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entity or business 
activities within the Credit Union to express an opinion on the separate financial statements.  We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Credit Union’s audit.  We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Giles Leung.

Grant Thornton 
  ORBIT Solutions
Port of Spain,
April 12, 2017

Independent Auditors’ Report (continued)
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Statement of Financial Position
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2016

 Notes 2016 2015
  $ $
ASSETS   
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents  7 158,638,557 52,560,835
Investments 8 1,038,726,390 1,066,443,875
Loans to members 9 699,545,002 632,287,604
Property, plant and equipment 10 60,626,600 55,435,297
Investment properties 12 16,940,091 16,940,091
Accounts receivable and prepayments 13     15,207,399     50,534,497

Total assets  1,989,684,039 1,874,202,199
   
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES     
Capital reserve 14 8,905,919 8,905,919
Investment re-measurement reserve 15 78,850 3,879,556
Reserve fund 16 80,974,245 73,221,809
Education fund 17 675,000 675,000
Charity fund 18 235,000 235,000
Group life reserve 19 3,229,857 3,229,857
Retained earnings  115,833,210     86,848,400

Total equity  209,932,081   176,995,541
   
Current liabilities   
Members’ deposits 20 251,587,023 266,494,172
Accounts payable and accruals 21 18,443,518 14,096,061
Retirement benefit liability 22 3,196,000 243,000
Due to deceased and former members  14,886,274 10,631,071
Members’ shares 23 1,491,639,143 1,405,742,354

Total current liabilities  1,779,751,958 1,697,206,658

Total equity and liabilities  1,989,684,039 1,874,202,199

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

         President                               Honorary Treasurer                      Member, Supervisory Committee

TECU CREDIT UNION CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LIMITED
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Statement of Income
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

 Notes 2016 2015
  $ $
Revenue   
Income 24 105,373,050 91,449,639
Interest expense    (3,862,858) (5,673,694)

Net interest income  101,510,192 85,775,945
   
Repayment of impaired investment income  22,166,231 33,712,936
Other income 25 291,894 832,676
Gain on foreign currency translation     12,086,371      2,318,257

   136,054,688 122,639,814

Expenses   
  Administrative and other 26 24,258,886 18,597,861
  Salaries, wages and associated benefits 27 25,360,104 20,816,838
  CUNA insurance premium  7,641,407 7,443,354
  Officers’ expenses 28 623,381 784,374
  Education fund expenses  448,227 361,599
  Charity fund expenses  225,672 218,693
  Finance costs             26,917                 33,918

Total expenses     58,584,594    48,256,637

Net surplus for the year attributable to members     77,470,094    74,383,177

Other comprehensive income   
Unrealised loss on available-for-sale investments      (3,800,706)     (3,256,888)

Total comprehensive income for the year      73,669,388    71,126,289

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016
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Statement of Cash Flows
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

 2016 2015
 $ $

Cash flows from operating activities 

  Net surplus attributable to members for the year 77,470,094 74,383,177
  Adjustments for:  
  Depreciation  6,087,742 3,014,529
  Gain on foreign currency translation (12,086,371) (2,318,257)
  (Increase)/decrease in provision for losses      (18,491) 1,001,097
  Adjustments to property, plant and equipment     750,534 -
  Retirement benefit cost         977,000           997,000

Operating surplus before changes in working capital 73,180,508 77,077,546

  Decrease in accounts receivable and prepayments 35,327,098 62,011,334
  Increase in loans to members (67,238,906) (40,801,855)
  Decrease in members’ deposits (14,907,149) (42,635,426)
  Increase in accounts payable and accruals  4,347,457 1,492,398
  Increase/(decrease) in retirement benefit contributions paid      1,976,000         (886,000)

  Net cash generated from operating activities   32,685,008     56,257,997

  Cash flows from investing activities   
  Purchase of property, plant and equipment (12,029,581) (17,329,196)
  Net purchases of investments   36,007,282 (239,386,001)

  Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities   23,977,701 (256,715,197)

  Cash flows from financing activities   
  Increase/(decrease) in deceased and former members’ balances  4,255,203 (1,273,704)
  Increase in members’ shares 85,896,789 135,273,045
  Dividends paid   (40,736,979)    (34,139,378)

  Net cash generated from financing activities   49,415,013     99,859,963

  Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 106,077,722  (100,597,237)

  Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   52,560,835   153,158,072

  Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 7) 158,638,557     52,560,835

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

1. Corporate information
TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited (“the Credit Union”) was incorporated under the 
Co-operative Societies Act of the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago on January 2, 1947.  Its registered 
office is situated at TECU House, Southern Main Road, Marabella.  It operates for the benefit of 
employees, pensioners and contractors of the Petroleum Company of Trinidad and Tobago Limited, 
its successors, subsidiaries and associated companies and institutions and who are closely connected 
with the bonafide employees, pensioners and contractors as stated above and such persons and 
personnel of companies and institutions approved by the Board of Directors.

The Credit Union is also an insurance agent for Guardian General Limited and CUNA Caribbean 
Insurance Society Limited and operates resorts. 

On April 12, 2017, the Board of Directors of the Credit Union authorised these financial statements 
for issue.

2. Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRSs”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

These financial statements were prepared under the historical cost convention, except for the 
measurement at fair value of available-for-sale investments and certain other financial instruments.

The Credit Union’s functional and presentation currency is the Trinidad and Tobago dollar.  

The preparation of financial statements in compliance with IFRSs requires management to make 
certain critical accounting estimates and to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the 
Credit Union’s accounting policies. It also requires the use of assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and the reported amounts of income and expenditure during the reporting 
period. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and 
actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates.
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3. Changes in accounting policy
a) New, revised and amended standards effective January 1, 2016

• IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, effective for accounting periods beginning on or  
after January 1, 2016, has been amended to clarify or state the following:

- specific single disclosures that are not material do not have to be presented even if 
they are  minimum requirements of a standard;

- the order of notes to the financial statements is not prescribed;  

- line items on the statement of financial position and the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income (“OCI”) should be disaggregated if this provides helpful 
information to users.  Line items can be aggregated if they are not material;

- specific criteria is now provided for presenting subtotals on the statement of financial 
position and in the statement of profit or loss and OCI, with additional reconciliation 
requirements for the statement of profit or loss and OCI; and

- the presentation in the statement of OCI of items of OCI arising from joint ventures 
and associates accounted for using the equity method follows the IAS 1 approach of 
splitting items that may, or that will never, be reclassified to profit or loss.

• Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38, Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and 
Amortisation, are effective for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016. 

• The amendment to IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment explicitly states that revenue-based 
methods of depreciation cannot be used. This is because such methods reflect factors other 
than the consumption of economic benefits embodied in the assets.

• The amendment to IAS 38, Intangible Assets introduces a rebuttable presumption that the 
use of revenue-based amortisation methods is inappropriate for intangible assets.

• IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, has  been amended to clarify when servicing 
arrangements are in the scope of its disclosure requirements on continuing involvement 
in transferred assets in cases when they are derecognized in their entirety.  A servicer is 
deemed to have continuing involvement if it has an interest in the future performance 
of the transferred asset -e.g. if the servicing fee is dependent on the amount or timing of 
the cash flows collected from the transferred financial asset; however, the collection and 
remittance of cash flows from the transferred asset to the transferee is not, in itself, sufficient 
to be considered ‘continuing involvement’.  

 IFRS 7 has also been amended to clarify that the additional disclosures required by 
Disclosures: Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendment to IFRS 7) are not 
specifically required for inclusion in condensed interim financial statements for all interim 
periods; however, they are required if the general requirements of IAS 34, Interim Financial 
Reporting, require their inclusion. 

These standards have no material impact on the Credit Union’s 2016 financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

3. Changes in accounting policy (continued)
b) New, revised and amended standards and interpretations not yet effective 

Certain new, revised and amended standards and interpretations have been issued which are not yet 
effective for the current year and which the Credit Union has not early-adopted. The Credit Union has 
assessed the relevance of all such new standards, amendments and interpretations with respect to 
the Credit Union’s operations and has determined that the following are likely to have an effect on the 
financial statements.

• Improvements to IFRS 2012-2014 cycle, contain amendments to certain standards and 
interpretations and are effective for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2017. The main amendments applicable to the Credit Union are as follows:

• IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which is effective for annual reporting periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2018, replaces the existing guidance in IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 includes revised guidance on the classification and 
measurement of financial assets and liabilities, including a new expected credit loss model 
for calculating impairment of financial assets and the new general hedge accounting 
requirements.  It also carries forward the guidance on recognition and derecognition 
of financial instruments from IAS 39. Although the permissible measurement bases for 
financial assets – amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 
and fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) - are similar to IAS 39, the criteria for classification 
into the appropriate measurement category are significantly different.  IFRS 9 replaces the 
‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with an ‘expected credit loss’ model, which means that a loss 
event will no longer need to occur before an impairment allowance is recognized.

 The Credit Union is assessing the impact that this amendment will have on its 2018 financial 
statements.

• IFRS 16, Leases, which is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 
1, 2019, eliminates the current dual accounting model for lessees, which distinguishes 
between on-balance sheet finance leases and off-balance sheet operating leases. Instead, 
there is a single, on-balance sheet accounting model that is similar to current finance lease 
accounting. Entities will be required to bring all major leases on-balance sheet, recognising 
new assets and liabilities. The on-balance sheet liability will attract interest; the total lease 
expense will be higher in the early years of a lease even if a lease has fixed regular cash 
rentals. Optional lessee exemption will apply to short- term leases and for low-value items 
with value of US$5,000 or less.

 Lessor accounting remains similar to current practice as the lessor will continue to classify 
leases as finance and operating leases. Finance lease accounting will be based on IAS 17 
lease accounting, with recognition of net investment in lease comprising lease receivable 
and residual asset. Operating lease accounting will be based on IAS 17 operating lease 
accounting.

 Early adoption is permitted if IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers is also 
adopted.

 The Credit Union is assessing the impact that this amendment will have on its 2019 financial 
statements.



61 Financial Statements for the Year ended 31 December 2016
Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

3. Changes in accounting policy (continued)
b) New, revised and amended standards and interpretations not yet effective (continued)

• IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers presents new requirements for the recognition 
of revenue, replacing IAS 18 ‘Revenue’. The new standard establishes a control-based 
revenue recognition model and provides additional guidance in many areas not covered 
in detail under existing IFRSs, including how to account for arrangements with multiple 
performance obligations, variable pricing, customer refund rights, supplier repurchase 
options, and other common complexities. IFRS 15 is effective for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2018. 

 The Credit Union is assessing the impact that this amendment will have on its 2018 financial 
statements.

4.    Summary of significant accounting policies
a) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, deposits with banks, and other short-term 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. They are carried at 
cost, which approximates fair value.

b) Investments

The Credit Union has classified all investments into the following categories:

Held-to-maturity

These securities are held with the positive intention of holding them to maturity and are stated 
at amortized cost less provisions made for any permanent diminution in value.  Amortised cost 
is calculated by taking into account any premium or discounts on acquisition over the period of 
maturity using the effective interest rate method.

Available-for-sale

These securities are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time but may be sold in 
response to the needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or equity prices.  
After initial recognition, available-for-sale investments are measured at fair value with unrealised 
gains or losses recognised in the investment re-measurement reserve account.

For actively traded investments, fair value is determined by reference to stock exchange quoted 
market prices at the statement of financial position date, adjusted for transaction costs necessary 
to realise the investment.  For investments where there is no quoted market price, the carrying 
value is deemed to approximate fair value.  All “regular way” purchases and sales are recognised 
at settlement date.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

c) Trade receivables 

Trade receivables are measured at cost. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable 
amounts are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when there is objective 
evidence that the asset is impaired.

d)     Loans to members 

Loans to members are stated at principal amounts outstanding net of allowances for loan losses.  
Specific provisions are made for potential losses on non-performing loans on the basis of net 
realisable value.  Periodic portfolio reviews are conducted during the course of each year to 
determine the adequacy of provisions. 

Loans are secured by various forms of collateral, including charges over tangible assets, certificates 
of deposit, and assignment of funds held with other financial institutions.

e) Trade payables 

Trade payables are a present obligation arising from past events which is expected to result in an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits.

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in the statement 
of income. 

f) Members’ deposits

Members’ deposits are stated at the principal amounts invested by members together with 
any capitalised interest.  Members’ deposits bear interest at rates that are not significantly 
different from current market rates and are assumed to have discounted cash flow values which 
approximate carrying values.

g)  Members’ shares

Members’ shares are classified as liabilities and consist of an unlimited number of shares valued 
at $5 each. 

h) Financial instruments 

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised or derecognised on the 
trade date, that is, the date on which the Credit Union commits itself to purchase or sell an 
asset. A regular way purchase and sale of financial assets is a purchase or sale of an asset under 
a contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within the timeframe established generally 
by regulation or convention in the marketplace concerned.

4.    Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
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Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised when the Credit Union becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument and are measured initially at fair value adjusted for 
transaction costs, except for those carried at fair value through profit or loss which are measured 
initially at fair value. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 
asset expire, or when the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards are transferred. 

Financial assets are comprised of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, investments and 
loans to members.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised when the Credit Union becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument and are measured initially at fair value adjusted for 
transaction costs, except for those carried at fair value through profit or loss which are measured 
initially at fair value. 

A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.

Financial liabilities are re-measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities comprise trade payables, members’ deposits and members’ shares.

Impairment of financial assets 

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished that is when the obligation 
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. 

The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability extinguished and the 
consideration paid is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

The Credit Union assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a 
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. 

A financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if and 
only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred 
after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”) and that event (or events) has an impact 
on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be 
reliably estimated. 

Objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired includes 
observable data that comes to the attention of the Credit Union about the following loss events:

i) Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor.

ii) A breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest or principal payments.

iii) It is probable that the borrower will enter in bankruptcy or other financial reorganization

4.    Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
h) Financial instruments (continued)
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4.    Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
h) Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
iv) The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial   difficulties.

v) Observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated cash-flows 
from a group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the 
decrease cannot yet be identified with individual financial assets in the group, including 
adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the Credit Union or national or 
economic conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the Credit Union. 

The Credit Union first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for 
financial assets that are individually significant.  If the Credit Union determines that no objective 
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, it includes the asset in 
a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for 
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment 
loss is or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

Impairment losses are recorded in an allowance account and are measured and recognised as  
follows:  

i) Financial assets measured at amortised cost 

The difference between the assets’ carrying amount and the present value of the estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate is 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such 
as improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the previously recognised loss is reversed 
to the extent that the carrying amount of the financial asset does not exceed what the 
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised at the date that 
the impairment is reversed.  The amount of the reversal is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

ii) Financial assets measured at cost

The difference between the assets’ carrying amount and the present value of the estimated 
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at 
the current market’s rate of return for similar financial assets is recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income.  These losses are not reversed.

i) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation 
and any accumulated impairment losses.  Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by management.
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4.    Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
i) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is provided on the reducing balance method, except for computer equipment, 
which is depreciated on the straight-line basis.

The following rates, considered appropriate to write-off the assets over their estimated useful 
lives, are applied:

Buildings - 2 ½% - 5%
Computer equipment and software - 20%
Office furniture and equipment - 10% - 33 1/3%
Beach house furniture - 20% - 33 1/3%
Motor vehicles - 20%

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted 
prospectively if there is an indication of a prospective change since the last reporting date. 

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s 
carrying amount is greater than its estimated future economic benefits. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying 
amount and are recognized within other income in the statement of income.

The Credit Union’s leasehold lands have been acquired under long-term leases ranging in terms 
from 199 years to 999 years.  In view of the long-term nature of these leases, no amortisation is 
considered necessary.

j) Investment properties 

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including 
property under construction for such purposes).  Investment properties are measured initially 
at cost, including transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties 
are measured in accordance with the cost model as set out in International Accounting 
Standard (“IAS”) 16 Property, Plant and Equipment, i.e. cost less accumulated depreciation and less 
accumulated impairment losses.

An investment property is derecognized upon disposal or when the investment property 
is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from the 
disposal.  Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or 
loss in the period in which the property is derecognized.

k) Pension plan

All permanent employees of the Credit Union are members of TECU Credit Union Co-operative 
Society Limited’s Pension Fund Plan (“the Plan”), which is a defined benefit plan.  Provision is made 
for pension benefits based on the Plan’s members’ salaries.  Pension benefits are based upon 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

4.    Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
k) Pension plan (continued)

contributions made by members and the Credit Union during employment and determined 
by actuarial valuations of the Pension Fund Plan.  IAS 19 Employee Benefits, requires the use of 
actuarial techniques on an annual basis to measure the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation, the related current service cost and the actuarial gains and losses.

Under the terms of a trust deed dated October 26 1981, the Trustees have entered into a Group 
Deposit Administration contract with Colonial Life Insurance Company (Trinidad) Limited for the 
purpose of administering the Pension Fund Plan.

l) Due to deceased and former members 

Any amounts outstanding to deceased and former members’ accounts are transferred to a 
special account.  The Credit Union is, however, still liable for payments of these amounts upon 
notification by the beneficiaries or the former members.

m) Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Credit Union has a present legal or constructive obligation 
as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the 
obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated. 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle 
the present obligation at the statement of financial position date, taking into account the risks 
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.  Where a provision is measured using the cash 
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those 
cash flows.

n)      Revenue recognition

Loan interest

Interest on members’ loans is accounted for on a cash basis.

Investment income

Income from investments is accounted for on the accruals basis except for dividends, which are 
accounted for on a cash basis.

Other income and expenses

Other income and expenses are accounted for on the accruals basis.
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4.    Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
o) Dividends payable to members 

The dividend is computed on the basis of the average value of shares in issue throughout the 
year. The average being determined on the basis of the value of shares held at the end of each 
day.

p) Foreign currency 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are expressed in Trinidad and 
Tobago dollars at rates of exchange ruling at the reporting date.  All revenue and expenditure 
transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the average rate and the 
resulting profits and losses on exchange from these trading activities are recorded in the 
statement of comprehensive income.

q) Comparative figures 

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in 
presentation in the current year. 

Office building expenses

The Marabella building previously offered office space rental, however due to the expansion of 
the member services department the building is now solely used for the business of the Credit 
Union.  

Consequently, office building expenses of $1,195,872 in 2015 will no longer be disclosed as 
a separate line item on the Statement of Comprehensive Income. This expenditure has been 
reclassified to Administrative and other expenses. Administrative and other expenses were 
previously stated as $17,401,989. This expenditure item now totals $18,597,861 for 2015. This 
reclassification has no impact on the net surplus for the year attributable to members for the 
current and prior years. 

r)     Restatements

Related party transactions and balances

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other or exercise 
significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. 

In previous years the Credit Union classified all members of staff as related parties, however 
according to the IAS 24 – Related Party Disclosures, the related party disclosures relate only to 
key management personnel as those persons have the authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the Credit Union.  The Credit Union has corrected this 
error and as such the related party disclosures for 2014 and 2015 have been restated as follows 
(see note 34).
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5. Financial risk management
Financial risk factors 

The Credit Union is exposed to interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, currency risk, operational 
risk, compliance risk and reputation risk arising from the financial instruments that it holds. The risk 
management policies employed by the Credit Union to manage these risks are discussed below:  

a)  Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  The Credit Union is exposed to interest 
rate risk through the effect of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of interest rates on interest 
bearing financial assets and liabilities, including investments in bonds, loans, customer deposits 
and other funding instruments. 

The exposure is managed through the matching of funding products with financial services and 
monitoring market conditions and yields.

i) Bonds

The Credit Union invests mainly in medium to long term bonds consisting of both floating 
rate and fixed rate instruments.  The market values of the fixed rate bonds are not very 
sensitive to changes in interest rates.  The market values of the floating rate bonds are 
sensitive to changes in interest rates.  The longer the maturity of the bonds, the greater 
is the sensitivity to changes in interest rates.  As these assets are being held to maturity 
and are not traded, any changes in market value will not impact the statement of 
comprehensive income.  

  Loan  Deposit Share
 balances balances balances
 $ $ $

Balance as reported at December 31, 2014 20,411,029  6,903,420  18,891,129
Effect of restatement (9,393,144)    (719,076)   (6,807,880)

Balance at December 31, 2014 (Restated) 11,017,885  6,184,344  12,083,249

Balance as reported at December 31, 2015 19,969,400 8,873,349  22,941,808
Effect of restatement  (9,037,941)          (302,321) (5,630,591)

Balance at December 31, 2015 (Restated) 10,931,459         8,571,028  17,311,217

This restatement has no impact on the net surplus for the year attributable to members for the 
current and prior years.

4.    Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
r)     Restatements (continued)
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5. Financial risk management (continued)
a)  Interest rate risk (continued)

i) Bonds (continued)

 Due on Due in Due 2-5 Due over Non-interest Carrying
 demand 1 year years 5 years bearing amount
 $ $ $ $ $ $
As at December 31, 2016      
Assets      
Cash and cash equivalents 155,973,065 - - - 2,665,492 158,638,557
Investments - 374,142,062 319,929,540 344,654,788 - 1,038,726,390
Loans to Members  21,515,483 435,785,659 242,243,860 - 699,545,002
Accounts receivable                         -                        -                        -                        -       15,207,399     15,207,399

    155,973,065 395,657,545 755,715,199 586,898,648 17,872,891 1,912,117,348

Liabilities      
Members’ deposits - 51,430,643 195,691,618 - 4,464,762 251,587,023
Accounts payable and accruals - - - - 18,443,518 18,443,518
Due to deceased and 
  former members 14,886,274 - - - - 14,886,274
Members’ shares  1,491,639,143                  -                  -                  -                - 1,491,639,143

  1,506,525,417   51,430,643 195,691,618                  - 22,908,280 1,776,555,958

Interest sensitivity gap (1,350,552,352) 344,226,902 560,023,581 586,898,648   (5,035,389)    135,561,390

As at December 31, 2015      
Assets      
Cash and cash equivalents 50,571,751 -       -       -       1,989,084 52,560,835
Investments -       412,417,951 112,766,748 541,259,176                 -       1,066,443,875
Loans to Members -       24,219,688 385,290,522 222,777,394                 -       632,287,604
Accounts receivable                         -                        -                        -                        -       50,534,497     50,534,497

       50,571,751 436,637,639 498,057,270 764,036,570 52,523,581 1,801,826,811

Liabilities      
Members’ deposits -       53,832,085 209,139,218 -       3,522,869 266,494,172
Accounts payable and accruals -       -         -       -       14,096,061 14,096,061
Due to deceased and 
  former members 10,631,071 - - - - 10,631,071
Members’ shares   1,405,742,354                   -                        -   -  -  1,405,742,354

   1,416,373,425   53,832,085 209,139,218                  - 17,618,930 1,696,963,658

Interest sensitivity gap (1,365,861,674) 382,805,554 288,918,052 764,036,570 34,904,651    104,803,153

The Credit Union actively monitors bonds with maturities greater than ten years, as well as 
the interest rate policies of the Central Bank of Trinidad and Tobago.

ii) Loans 

The Credit Union generally invests in fixed rate loans and variable rate mortgages. These 
are funded mainly from member deposits and shares.

The table below summarises the Credit Union’s exposure to interest rate risks. Included in 
the table are the Credit Union’s financial assets and liabilities at carrying amounts:
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5. Financial risk management (continued)
b) Credit risk 

Credit risk arises when a failure by counter parties to discharge their obligations could reduce 
the amount of future cash inflows from financial assets on hand at the Statement of Financial 
Position date.  The Credit Union relies heavily on a written Loan Policy Manual, which sets out 
in detail the current policies governing the lending function and provides a comprehensive 
framework for prudent risk management of the credit function. 

Adherence to these guidelines is expected to communicate the Credit Union’s lending philosophy; 
provide policy guidelines to team members involved in lending; establish minimum standards 
for credit analysis, documentation, decision making and post-disbursement administration; as 
well as create the foundation for a sound credit portfolio.

The Credit Union’s loan portfolio is managed and consistently monitored by the Credit Committee 
and is adequately secured by collateral and where necessary, provisions have been established 
for potential credit losses on delinquent accounts.

Cash balances are held with high credit quality financial institutions and the Credit Union has 
policies to limit the amount of exposure to any single financial institution. 

The Credit Union also actively monitors global economic developments and government 
policies that may affect the growth rate of the local economy.

c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that arises when the maturity dates of assets and liabilities do not match.  
An unmatched position potentially enhances profitability, but can also increase the risk of losses.  
The Credit Union has procedures with the object of minimising such losses such as maintaining 
sufficient cash and other highly liquid current assets and by having available an adequate 
amount of committed credit facilities. 

The Credit Union is able to make daily calls on its available cash resources to settle financial and 
other liabilities.
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5. Financial risk management (continued)
c) Liquidity risk (continued)

Following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities:

 Due on Due in Due 2 Due over 
 demand 1 year to 5 years 5 years Total
 $ $ $ $ $
As at December 31, 2016     
Liabilities     
Members’ deposits - 55,895,405 195,691,618 - 251,587,023
Accounts payable and accruals - 18,443,518 - - 18,443,518
Due to deceased and 
  former members 14,886,274 - - - 14,886,274
Members’ shares 1,491,639,143                -                        -                      -       1,491,639,143

Total liabilities  1,506,525,417 74,338,923 195,691,618                -       1,776,555,958

As at December 31, 2015     
Liabilities     
Members’ deposits -       57,354,954 209,139,218    -       266,494,172
Accounts payable and accruals   -       14,096,061 -       -       14,096,061
Due to deceased and 
  former members 10,631,071 -       -       -       10,631,071
Members’ shares 1,405,742,354                 -                        -                     -       1,405,742,354

Total liabilities  1,416,373,425 71,451,015 209,139,218               -       1,696,963,658

Risk management
 The matching and controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets and 
liabilities are fundamental to the management of the Credit Union.  The Credit Union employs 
various asset/liability techniques to manage liquidity gaps.  Liquidity gaps are mitigated by the 
marketable nature of a substantial segment of the Credit Union’s assets as well as generating 
sufficient cash from new and renewed members’ deposits and shares.

 To manage and reduce liquidity risk the Credit Union’s management actively seeks to match 
cash inflows with liability requirements.

d) Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in 
foreign exchange rates. Currency risk arises when future commercial transactions and recognised 
assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the Credit Union’s measurement 
currency.  The Credit Union is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency 
exposures primarily with respect to the United States Dollar. The Credit Union’s management 
monitors the exchange rate fluctuations on a continuous basis and acts accordingly. 
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5. Financial risk management (continued)
d) Currency risk  (continued)

The carrying amounts of the Credit Union’s United States dollar denominated monetary assets 
at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
 2016 2015
 $ $
  
Cash and cash equivalents 29,694,044 29,280,156
Investments 264,100,156 284,769,255

 293,794,200 314,049,411

Sensitivity analysis is based on the Credit Union’s foreign currency financial instruments held at 
each reporting date. Assuming a +/- 5% change of the USD exchange rate for the year ended 
December 31, 2016 (2015: 5%) ‘all other things being equal’ if the value of the USD is strengthened 
by 5% profit for the year would increase by $14.7m (2015: $15.7m), conversely if the value of the 
USD is weakened by 5%, surplus would decrease by $14.7m (2015: $15.7m).

e) Operational risk 

Operational risk is the risk derived from deficiencies relating to the Credit Union’s information 
technology and control systems, as well as the risk of human error and natural disasters.  The 
Credit Union’s systems are evaluated, maintained and upgraded continuously. Supervisory 
controls are installed to minimise human error. Additionally, staff is often rotated and trained on 
an on-going basis. 

f) Compliance risk 

Compliance risk is the risk of financial loss, including fines and other penalties, which arise from 
non-compliance with laws and regulations of the state.  The risk is limited to a significant extent 
due to the supervision applied by the Commissioner for Co-operative Development, as well as 
by the monitoring controls applied by the Credit Union.  The Credit Union has a Compliance 
Officer as well as an Internal Audit Department which does routine reviews on compliance.

g) Reputation risk 

The risk of loss of reputation arising from the negative publicity relating to the Credit Union’s 
operations (whether true or false) may result in a reduction of its clientele, reduction in revenue 
and legal cases against the Credit Union.  The Credit Union engages in public social endeavours 
to engender trust and minimize this risk. 
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6. Critical accounting estimates and judgments
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions in the process of applying the Credit Union’s accounting 
policies (see basis of preparation).

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.  The Credit Union makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  However, 
actual results could differ from those estimates as the resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, 
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year are discussed below.

Changes in accounting estimates are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in the 
period in which the estimate is changed, if the change affects that period only, or in the period of the 
change and future periods if the change affects both current and future periods.

The critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements, are as follows: 

i) Provision for loan loss

ii) Pension plan assumptions

iii) Fair value 

iv) Depreciation method adopted for property, plant and equipment

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
statement of financial position date (requiring management’s most difficult, subjective or complex 
judgements) that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are as follows:

i) Impairment of assets

Management assesses at each reporting date whether assets are impaired.  An asset is impaired 
when the carrying value is greater than its recoverable amount and there is objective evidence 
of impairment.  Recoverable amount is the present value of the future cash flows. Provisions are 
made for the excess of the carrying value over its recoverable amount.

ii) Plant and equipment

Management exercises judgement in determining whether future economic benefits can be 
derived from expenditures to be capitalised, in estimating the useful lives, and in estimating 
residual values of those assets.
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7.  Cash and cash equivalents
 2016 2015
 $ $

Cash on hand 2,665,492 1,989,084
Current accounts held at bank 47,544,591 36,040,361
Mutual funds 108,428,474 14,531,390

 158,638,557 52,560,835

8. Investments
 2016 2015
 $ $

Available-for-sale  
Quoted  
Ansa McAl Limited - 109,918 shares  7,309,547 7,323,837
CLICO Investments Fund 320,000 units 7,238,400 7,280,000
First Citizens Bank Limited – 202,101 shares 7,069,493 6,530,195
First Citizens Bank Limited (El Tucuche Fund)  – 767,978 units 9,577,429 9,505,544
Grace Kennedy Limited - 143,433 shares 382,966 193,635
Guardian Holdings Limited - 76,959 shares 973,531 1,019,707
Jamaican Money Market Brokers Limited - 202,906 shares 182,615 111,598
KCL  CMBL  - 1,000,000 Preference shares 1,000,000              -      
National Commercial Bank of Jamaica Limited    - 100,000 shares 300,000 210,000
National Enterprises Limited - 276,100 shares 2,940,465 4,519,757
Neal and Massy Holdings Limited - 38,678 shares 2,011,256 2,376,763
Plipdeco Limited – 77,700 shares 287,490 304,584
Praetorian Property Mutual Fund - 400,000 units 1,104,000 1,236,000
Republic Bank Limited – 15,677 shares 1,700,016 1,754,727
Royal Bank of Canada – 6,388 shares 2,917,857 2,197,230
Sagicor Financial Corporation - 175,900 shares  1,359,707 1,090,580
SavInvest India Asia Mutual Fund - 110,031 units 6,506,360 6,351,120
Scotiabank Bond Fund - 372,939 units 6,586,981 6,253,910
Scotiabank Trinidad and Tobago Limited - 50,000 shares 2,942,000 3,097,000
Trinidad and Tobago National Gas Ltd 152,567 shares 3,203,907 3,269,511
Unilever Caribbean Limited - 32,667 shares 1,954,793 2,231,156
UTC Calypso Macro Index fund 995,775 shares 21,797,515 24,894,376

 89,346,327 91,751,230
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Unquoted  
Central Finance Facility Co-operative Society of T&T Ltd - 2 shares 50,000 50,000
LINCU Limited - 2,250,001 shares     2,562,001       2,250,001

     2,612,001        2,300,001

Total available-for-sale   91,958,329   94,051,231
  
Held for trading  
RBC Portfolio Management 10,715,504 9,379,965
FCIS Portfolio Management   14,275,369   12,984,606

   24,990,873   22,364,571
Short-term held-to-maturity
Fixed deposits 31,220,339 29,670,261
Repurchase agreements 228,846,522 241,428,789

Total 260,066,861 271,099,050
  
Long-term held-to-maturity  
ANSA Merchant 3.35% due 2022 20,000,000 20,000,000
ANSA Merchant 4.0% USD 2021 13,492,000 12,838,000
Caribbean Dev. Bank Limited 4.75% Fixed Rate (FXR)Bond 2027 13,788,271 13,022,636
Caroni (1975) Limited 6% FXR Bond 2018 1,509,131 2,272,857
Cayman Island 5.95% FXR Bond 2019 7,296,258 7,113,835
Educational Facilities Co. Ltd 5.35% FXR Bond 2016 - 10,007,871
ETECK FXR Loan #17 2021  22,633,981 21,968,340
ETECK FXR Loan #20 2022  20,497,450 19,858,021
FCB 4.903% FXR Bond 2016 III - 3,216,719
FCB 4.903% FXR Bonds 2016 - 3,813,156
FCB 4.903% FXR Bonds 2016 II - 1,927,253
FCIS 4.25% Fixed Bond 2022 15,000,000 15,000,000
First CARIBB 3.45% FXRB 2018 10,000,000 10,000,000
GOTT - Government of Trinidad and Tobago (USD) 
  9.75% FXR Notes 2020 14,267,486 13,728,066
GOTT (USD) 9.75% FXR Notes 2020 7,229,979 6,981,300
GOTT 2.2% FXR Bond Due 2021, 1,966,608 1,970,146
GOTT 2.20% FXR Bond due 2026,  8,414,193 9,263,463
GOTT 2.30% FXR Bond 2026 II 10,467,026 11,518,600
GOTT 2.4% FXR USD Bond 2020 III 8,393,375 8,418,030
GOTT 2.50% Fixed Rate Bond 2023 5,060,845 5,069,309

8. Investments (continued)
 2016 2015
 $ $

Available-for-sale (continued)

Balance carried forward 180,016,603 197,987,602 
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8. Investments (continued)
 2016 2015
 $ $

Long-term held-to-maturity (continued)

GOTT 2.60% Fixed Rate Bond 2020  13,222,785   13,285,755
GOTT 2028 Zero Coupon Series 20, 26 & 30 46,143,367 44,265,277
GOTT 3.1% USD FXR Bond 2028 8,906,237 9,175,487
GOTT 3.80% FXR TTD BOND 2022 10,688,000 -
GOTT 4.375% USD Bond 2024 3,429,220 3,269,719
GOTT 4.375% USD Bond 2024 3,627,842 3,482,552
GOTT 4.375% USD Bond 2024 3,628,431 3,483,143
GOTT 4.375% USD Bond 2024 IV 7,210,887 6,924,795
GOTT 5.2% FXR Bond 2027 22,078,548 22,231,076
GOTT 5.95% FXR Bond 2023 5,052,129 5,058,828
GOTT 6.00% FXR Bond 2031 10,608,299 10,634,377
GOTT 6.20% FXR Bond 2018 2,055,620 2,084,013
GOTT 6.50% FXR Bond 2025 27,939,272 28,019,485
GOTT 7.75% FXR Bonds 2024 20,393,000 20,393,000
GOTT 8.25% FXR Bond 2017 3,872,000 3,872,000
GOTT Zero Coupon (Clico) 2017 - 7,841,240
GOTT Zero Coupon (Clico) 2021  14,554,427 14,064,481
Gulf City Bond 2020  5,922,148 6,144,013
HDC - Housing Development Corporation 8.70% FXR Bonds 2023 4,372,000 4,372,000
HDC 8.25% FXR Bonds 2024 1,138,000 1,138,000
National Insurance Property Development Company Limited 
  (NIPDEC) 6.8% FXR Bond 2022 20,000,000 20,000,000
NIPDEC 4.00% FXR Bond 2023 10,159,585 10,171,531
NIPDEC 5.15% FXR Bond 2025  12,381,502 12,472,112
NIPDEC 6.25% FXR Bond 2028 5,000,000 5,000,000
NML - Neal and Massy Limited 5% Certificate 2016 - 5,938,099
NML Zero Coupon Series 25 2027 3,450,916 3,346,858
NML Zero Coupon Series 37 2020     5,292,745     5,077,104
NML Zero Coupon Series 39 2020 5,136,001 4,924,804
NML Zero Coupon Series 40 2020 1,136,915 1,088,883
Petrotrin (USD) 6% FXR Bond 2022 2,598,643 2,894,173
Petrotrin (USD) 6% FXR Bond 2022 2,724,564 3,010,349
Petrotrin (USD) 6% FXR Bond 2022 3,052,077 3,426,041
Petrotrin (USD) 9.75% FXR Note 2019 28,232,493 27,204,418
Petrotrin (USD) 9.75% FXR Note 2019 II 15,185,133 14,934,847
Phoenix Park GPL US Bond 2021 5,059,500 5,883,963
Prestige Holdings Limited 6.25% FXR Bond 2023 1,636,737 1,890,307
Republic Bank Limited 4.75% FXR Bond 2027  7,100,000 7,100,000

Balance brought forward 180,016,603 197,987,602 

Balance carried forward 523,005,626 542,090,332 
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8. Investments (continued)
 2016 2015
 $ $

Long-term held-to-maturity (continued)

Republic Bank Limited 8.55% FXR Bonds 2018 5,000,000 5,000,000
Royal Bank of Canada Limited 4.75% FXR Bond 2022 3,196,284 3,210,404
Sport Company of Trinidad and Tobago Limited  Loan 
  series 28, 29 & 30 49,442,719 47,546,093
Trinidad Generation Unlimited 5.25% USD BOND 2027 6,725,762 -
TTMF 4.62% FXRB 2021 – Series 1 13,000,000 13,000,000
TTMF Notes Series 6,9 & 11 25,000,000 25,000,000
TTMF VAR BOND 2025 – Series 2 13,000,000 13,000,000
TTMF Zero Coupon Series 5, 8, 10 & 20 8,500,000 12,500,000
UDECOTT 1.95% FXR Loan 2021 8,125,000 9,750,000
Urban Development Company of Trinidad and Tobago Limited 
  (UDECOTT) 1.95% FXR Bond 2022         6,714,936        7,832,194

Total long-term held-to-maturity    661,710,327    678,929,023

Total investments 1,038,726,390 1,066,443,875

9. Loans to members
 2016 2015

 $ $
Character loans 368,504,218 333,888,733
Co-maker loans 12,037,716 15,033,975
Mortgage bill of sale loans 118,362,092 115,977,929
Computer loans 659,776 1,187,781
Mortgages 204,319,384 176,504,402
Investments   28,465,755   23,267,031

 732,348,941 665,859,851
Less: Loans due from deceased members     (2,759,643)    (3,489,144)

 729,589,298 662,370,707
Less:  Provision for loan losses (see note below)  (30,044,296)  (30,083,103)

 699,545,002 632,287,604

Provision for Loan Losses  
Opening balance at January 1 30,083,103 23,134,513
Provision for loan losses charged to surplus (18,491) 1,001,097
Provision for loan losses transferred (20,316) 5,958,250
Loans written off                     -                (10,757)

Closing balance at December 31   30,044,296    30,083,103

Balance brought forward 523,005,626 542,090,332 
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

11. Capital commitments
The Credit Union has a contractual commitment to acquire IT software of $5.5m (2015: $12.6m) and 
land development of $11.5m (2015: $18.6m) payable in 2017. There were no other material contractual 
commitments to acquire property, plant and equipment as at December 31, 2016.

12. Investment properties
 2016 2015

 $ $
La Brea/Plaisance Park/Piparo 430,870 430,870
Tabaquite 93,783 93,783
La Sophie 69,429 69,429
Chaguanas 12,259,208 12,259,208
Blanchisseuse 28,847 28,847
Tobago – Mc Kay Hill 311,609 311,609
Tobago – Milford Road 992,213 992,213
The Orchard at Moka   2,754,132  2,754,132

 16,940,091 16,940,091

The Credit Union has adopted the Cost Model for accounting for its investment properties (significant 
accounting policy (j). An independent valuation was not performed to determine the market value of 
investment properties as at December 31, 2016. 

13. Accounts receivable and prepayments
 2016 2015

 $ $
Interest receivable on investments 10,960,052 10,364,326
Accounts receivable 6,906,645 42,621,047
Deferred charges and prepayments 335,388 349,675
Other receivables      179,159      393,610

 18,381,244 53,728,658
Provision for impairment (see note below)  (3,173,845)  (3,194,161)

 15,207,399 50,534,497

Provision for Impairment:  
Opening balance at January 1 3,194,161 31,935,479
Decrease in provision due to repayment - (22,783,068)
Decrease in provision due to transfer       (20,316)  (5,958,250)

Closing balance at December 31   3,173,845   3,194,161
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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14. Capital reserve
 This reserve includes appropriations transferred from retained earnings, as considered necessary by 
the Board of Directors.

15. Investment re-measurement reserve
In accordance with Bye Law 20 (viii), the Board of Directors has created an investment re-measurement 
reserve which consists of unrealised gains/(losses) on available-for-sale investments.

16. Reserve fund
In accordance with the Co-operative Societies Act, 1971, Section 47 (2) and Bye-Law 50 (1) of the 
Credit Union, at least 10% of the net surplus for the year of the Credit Union is to be appropriated to 
the Reserve Fund.

17. Education fund
In accordance with Bye Law 51 of the Credit Union, an amount not exceeding 5% of the net surplus 
for the year, after making appropriations to the Reserve Fund is transferred to an Education Fund.  This 
fund is to be used for educational purposes, in accordance with Bye Law 46.

18. Charity fund
In accordance with the Co-operative Societies Act, 1971 Section 50 and By-Law, an amount not 
exceeding 5% of the net surplus for the year, after making appropriations to the Reserve Fund, is 
transferred to the Charity Fund.

19. Group life reserve
The balance represents the accumulation of rebates received from Colonial Life Insurance Company 
(Trinidad) Limited from the policyholder’s reserve account. Rebates are issued based on claim 
experience and administration of the members’ group life insurance plan.

20.   Members’ deposits
 2016 2015

 $ $
Retirees’ deposits 224,054,179 238,423,844
One year deposits 23,067,671 24,547,517
Unclaimed deposits     4,465,173    3,522,811

 251,587,023 266,494,172

21.   Accounts payable and accruals
 2016 2015

 $ $
Trade payable and accruals 15,462,914 13,536,730
Provisional deposits    2,980,604       559,331

  18,443,518  14,096,061
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

22.   Retirement benefit liability
 2016 2015

 $ $
a)   Change in defined benefit obligations  

Defined benefit obligations at start of year 18,705,000 17,156,000
Service cost 1,702,000 1,370,000
Interest cost 828,000 826,000
Actuarial loss on obligation 2,859,000 (323,000)
Benefits paid      (619,000)      (324,000)

Defined benefit obligation at end  23,475,000  18,705,000
   
b)  Change in plan assets  

Plan assets at start of year 18,462,000 17,024,000
Expected return on plan assets 710,000 717,000
Actuarial loss (60,000) (37,000)
Contributions 1,786,000 1,082,000
Benefits paid       (619,000)      (324,000)

Plan assets at end of year  20,279,000  18,462,000
  
c)   Items included in statement of financial position  

Defined benefit obligation (a) (23,475,000) (18,705,000)
Fair value of assets (b)   20,279,000   18,462,000

Net IAS 19 defined benefit liability    (3,196,000)      (243,000)
  
d)  Items included in statement of comprehensive income  

Current service cost 945,000 916,000
Interest cost 60,000 44,000
Interest on plan assets (28,000) 37,000
Net actuarial loss recognised in the year                      -                          -      

Net pension cost        977,000       997,000
  
e)   Reconciliation of opening and closing statement 
             of financial position balances     

Opening defined benefit (liability) asset (243,000) (132,000)
Expense in statement of comprehensive income (977,000) (997,000)
Contributions paid (1,976,000) 886,000
Adjustment                     -                           -      

Liability recognised in the statement of financial position    (3,196,000)        (243,000)
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22. Retirement benefit liability (continued)
 2016 2015

 $ $
f )   Actual return on plan assets  

Interest on plan assets 856,000 1,436,000
Actuarial loss on plan assets (146,000)   (719,000)

Actual return on plan assets    710,000     717,000
  

g)  Summary of Principal Assumptions  
 2016 2015
 % %

  
Discount rate – prior to retirement 4.5 4.5
Discount rate – post retirement 4.5 4.5
Expense – prior to retirement (of contributions) 3.5 3.5
Expense – post retirement (of annuity) 3.5 3.5
Expected rate of salary increases 2.5 2.5
Expected return on plan assets N/A N/A

23.  Members’ shares
 In accordance with existing IFRSs and given the substance and the nature of Members’ shares, this 

balance is accounted for as a liability and not as equity of the Credit Union.  The Credit Union Bye Laws 
allow for the issue of an unlimited number of shares at $5.00 each.

24. Income
 2016 2015

 $ $
Loan interest  61,964,474 55,409,890
Investment income   43,564,365 36,039,749

 105,528,839 91,449,639

25.   Other income 
 2016 2015

 $ $
Insurance agency (net) 1,464,203 1,135,450
Beach houses (net) (See note 25 (a) below) (20,251) (128,116)
Coral Reef Guest House (net) (See note 25 (b) below) (850,979) (762,214)
Couva office (net) (300,812) (244,819)
Miscellaneous             (267)      832,375

      291,894      832,676
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

25.   Other income (expense) (continued)
a) Beach houses (net)

  2016 2015
  Rental  Surplus/ Rental  Surplus/ 
  Income Expenses  (Deficit) Income Expenses (Deficit)
  $ $ $ $ $ $

 Mayaro      
     House #1 20,463 23,942 (3,479) 41,305 69,270 (27,965)
     House #2 - 11,959 (11,959) 2,783 87,087 (84,305)
     House #3 - 12,010 (12,010) 39,304 58,658 (19,353)
     House# 4 2,911 17,902 (14,991) 67,911 78,950 (11,039)
Balandra Condo 10,638 (11,550) 22,188   29,305   14,759  14,546

Total 34,012 54,263 (20,251) 180,608 308,724  (128,116)

b) Coral Reef guest house (net)
 2016 2015

 $ $
Income 1,176,965 103,002
Expenses  
Advertising and promotion 66,938 -
Bank charges 14,811 4,718
Cleaning supplies and toiletries 33,182 6,350
Contract Service Fee 10,500 -
Contribution to national insurance 25,821 10,520
Cutlery and crockery 32,335 1,050
Depreciation 205,851 116,482
Electricity 94,685 22,309
General maintenance 519,077 67,223
Insurance – fixed assets 135,410 65,974
Insurance - other 709 361
Legal and professional fees 32,400 31,500
Material and supplies other 48,149 103,636
Miscellaneous 76,706 102,717
Repair equipment  209 -      
Repairs property 30,119 -
Salaries 187,316 81,602
Security 300,447 125,112
Staff travelling - 5,350
Stationery 1,442 1,060
Subsistence 71,741 37,085
Telephone and faxes 17,776 23,876
Wages 116,995 51,227
Water rates         5,325           7,064

Total expenses 2,027,944      865,216

Deficit   (850,979)    (762,214)
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26. Administration and other expenses
 2016 2015

 $ $
Advertising and promotions 1,718,228 1,743,337
Annual general meeting 455,517 470,888
Audit fees 580,265 408,481
Branch operations Couva 915,234 809,453
Branch operation Marabella 2,743,517 1,582,545
Branch operation Point Fortin 822,771 755,266
Co-operative development 222,797 771,899
Data processing 4,664,885 2,063,911
Depreciation 4,744,146 2,085,715
General maintenance 363,406 1,059,500
Insurance 220,522 141,988
Internet charges 51,011 189,116
Janitorial services 205,456 240,191
Legal and professional fees 810,445 896,171
(Recovery)/provision for bad and doubtful debt (20,317) 1,001,097
Miscellaneous 1,469,597 274,454
Office maintenance 164,703 278,033
Office building expense 1,482,143 1,195,872
Printing, postage and stationery 561,962 743,643
Security 111,554 86,064
Seminars and conventions 389,399 444,561
Staff training 527,563 706,306
Statutory levies 854,400 -
Subscriptions 49,879 50,002
Telephone and electricity 145,993 497,786
Youth development         3,810     101,582

 24,258,886 18,597,861
  

27. Salaries, wages and associated benefits
 2016 2015

 $ $
Contract services 6,000 6,300
E.A.P. charges 95,238 95,450
Salaries, pension and national insurance contributions 23,894,630 19,329,204
Staff related insurance 206,754 215,552
Staff travel 515,212 515,484
Uniform allowance 302,650 307,271
Wages     339,620     347,577

 25,360,104 20,816,838
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

28. Officers’ expenses
 2016 2015

 $ $
Group Life  57,672 67,990
Meetings  318,874 365,171
Functions 6,717 78,930
Local travel 79,900 120,727
Allowances  160,218 151,556

 623,381 784,374

29. Employees
The number of persons employed at the Credit Union at December 31, 2016 totalled 181
(2015: 152).

30. Fair values
Management uses valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments (where 
active market quotes are not available) and non-financial assets. This involves developing estimates 
and assumptions consistent with how market participants would price the instrument. Management 
bases its assumptions on observable data as far as possible but this is not always available. In that 
case management uses the best information available. Estimated fair values may vary from the actual 
prices that would be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting date.

 The following methods have been used to estimate the fair values of various classes of financial assets 
and liabilities:

a) Current assets and liabilities 
The carrying amounts of current assets and liabilities are a reasonable approximation of the fair 
values because of their short-term nature.

b) Members’ loans
Loans are net of specific provisions for losses.  These assets result from transactions conducted 
under typical market conditions and their values are not adversely affected by unusual terms.  The 
inherent rates of interest in the portfolio approximate market conditions and yield discounted 
cash flow values which are substantially in accordance with financial statement amounts.

c) Investments
The fair values of investments are determined on the basis of quoted market prices available at 
December 31, 2016.

d) Members’ deposits
Members’ deposits bear interest at rates that are not significantly different from current rates and 
are assumed to have discounted cash flow values which approximate carrying values.  
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31. Capital risk management
The Credit Union manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern 
while maximising the return to members, and providing value to its members by offering loan and 
savings facilities.  The Credit Union’s overall strategy remains unchanged from previous years.

The capital structure of the Credit Union consists of equity attributable to members, and comprises 
members’ shares, reserves and retained earnings.

32. Dividends
The Board of Directors declared a dividend of 3% of the average value of members’ shares in issue 
throughout the year for the year ended December 31, 2015. This dividend amounting to $40.7 million 
(2014: $34.1m) is not recorded as a liability in the statement of financial position, consistent with IAS 
10 – Events after the Reporting Period.

33. Contingent liabilities
As at December 31, 2016, there were certain legal proceedings outstanding against the Credit Union.  
No provision has been made as professional advice indicates that it is unlikely that any significant 
losses will arise.

34. Related party transactions and balances
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise 
significant influence over the other party in making financial decisions. 

Key management personnel are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the Credit Union.

A number of transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal course of business.  
These transactions were carried out on commercial terms at market rates.

Balances and transaction with related parties and key management personnel during the year were 
as follows:
      Restated Restated
 2016     2015 2014
 $     $ $
Assets   
Loans to directors, key management 
   personnel and their close family members 19,615,332 10,931,459 11,017,885

Deposits and other liabilities   
Deposits held by directors, key management 
   personnel and their close family members 12,210,380   8,751,028   6,184,344

Shares held by directors, key management 
   personnel and their close family members 20,452,666 17,311,217 12,083,249

Key management compensation   
Short-term benefits 9,619,880   5,912,483   5,912,676
Post-employment benefits      524,467   291,895   261,040

 10,144,347 6,204,378 6,173,716
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1. Dividends 

 Whereas TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society Ltd (TECU) has realised a net surplus for the financial 
year ended December 31, 2016; and whereas Bye-Law 46 of TECU makes provision for the distribution of 
this surplus in accordance with the regulations of the Co-operative Societies Act;

 Be it resolved that a dividend of 3% be declared on members’ shares for the period January 01, 2016 to 
December 31, 2016.

2. Appointment of Auditors 

 Whereas Bye-Law 54 of TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society Ltd (TECU) requires the Annual General 
Meeting to appoint an Auditor for the ensuing term; 

 Be it resolved that Grant Thornton - Orbit Solutions be appointed Auditors of TECU for the financial year 
January 01, 2017 to December 31, 2017.

3. Bad Debts 

 Whereas Bye-Law 15 (viii) of TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society Ltd makes provision for approval of 
Bad Debts at the Annual General Meeting;

 Be it resolved that the sum of Four Million, Nine Hundred and Ninety-Eight Thousand, Nine Hundred and 
Twenty-Four dollars and Fifty-Four cents ($4,998,924.54) be written off by the society.

Resolutions
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Report of the Nominating Committee

A.  Appointment of Nominating Committee

 The Nominating Committee (NC) of TECU 
Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited 
(TECU) was appointed by the Board of Directors 
on May 4, 2016. The primary responsibility 
of the NC is to create a ballot with suitable 
Nominees for election at the Annual General 
Meeting (AGM), to be held on May 12, 2017 at 
4.30 p.m. 

B.  Duty of the Nominating Committee

 Clause 50 of the Bye-Laws of TECU states 
that the duty of the NC is the screening and 
selection of Nominees, in accordance with the 
criteria set by the Board, to be considered for 
election to the Board, Credit and Supervisory 
Committees of TECU at the Annual General 
Meeting. The following vacant positions will 
occur at the AGM for 2017:

• Board of Directors – four (4) positions

• Credit Committee – five (5) positions

• Supervisory Committee – (5) positions

C.  Composition of the Nominating Committee

 The initial NC appointed in May, 2016, 
comprised the following members:

Mr. Orville R. Andrews - Convenor

Mr. Shaffayate Ali

Mr. Robert J. Andrews

Mrs. Cheryl Richards-Scott

Mrs. Gemma Warner

 However, from the inception of NC meetings 
on January 12, 2017, Mr. Ali was unable to 
attend due to illness. He was replaced by Mr. 
Ronald F. Jones, who was appointed to the 
Committee on February 6, 2017, and joined 
the Committee on February 16, 2017.

1. Mr. Orville R. Andrews  -  Convenor
2. Mr. Ronald F. Jones    
3. Mrs. Gemma Warner
4. Mrs. Cheryl Richards-Scott 
5. Mr. Robert J. Andrews

D.  Nomination and Selection Process

 The nomination process started with the 
publication of a Nomination Notice on January 
31, 2017, at media houses, daily newspapers, 
TECU’s offices and website, and the issue 
of Application Packages for Nomination, 
designed and developed for the purpose. 
Application Packages were to be submitted by 
February 20, 2017. Nineteen (19) Application 
Packages were received by the deadline.

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.
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 At the eligibility stage, Candidates’ Application 
Packages were opened and screened for 
completeness, in line with guidelines outlined 
in the Application Package, and based on 
criteria set by the Board. The Application 
Packages of two (2) Candidates were 
incomplete, and declared unacceptable by 
the NC. The unsuccessful Candidates, and the 
reasons for their rejection, were as follows:

1. Mr. Mervyn K. Baptiste, whose Application 
Package did not include the required two 
(2) Nominators, thereby rendering his 
application null and void;

2. Mr. Stephen Ramsden, who did not fill 
out several of the required forms in the 
Application Package, made his application 
unacceptable to the NC. Consequently, it 
was impossible to screen his Application 
Package and assess his suitability for 
office, thereby rendering his application 
null and void.

 Seventeen (17) Candidates submitted 
acceptable Application Packages and were 
considered eligible for the next stage of the 
nomination process. 

 The interview and assessment stage included 
panel interviews of each eligible Candidate, 
followed by an assessment of suitability for 
office, which took into consideration the 
outcome of the interview and the content of 
the Application Package. The interview panel 
consisted of the five (5) members of the NC. 
At the conclusion of this stage, all eligible 
Candidates were approved to be included 
on the ballot as Nominees. The NC, having 
completed the nomination and selection 
process, hereby recommends for election at 
the 2017 AGM, the following Nominees, by 
Committee:

a) Board of Directors

1. Mr. Kenneth Allum*

2. Mr. Leonard Chan Chow

3. Ms. Keah A. Clarke

4. Mr. Ian-Michael Haynes*

5. Mr. Kenneth Lewis

6. Mrs. Sandra Matthews-Noel*

7. Ms. Nicole R. Murrell 

8. Mrs. Nadine Pirtheesingh 

b) Credit Committee

1. Mr. Norman Arjoon*

2. Ms. Michelle Badal*

3. Mrs. Inga Crichlow*

4. Mr. Wesley Huggins+ 

5. Mrs. Lucy Ottley*

6. Mr. Stephen Tang*

c)  Supervisory Committee

1. Ms. Dianne Lochan*

2. Ms. Tabitha Thomas*

3. Mr. Hercial Vitalis*

 The following notes are germane to the election 
process, and relevant to the nomination and 
election of members for office at TECU’s AGM:

a) * denotes outgoing officers seeking re-
election;

b) + denotes having served as an Alternate;

c) Consistent with Clauses 15 (vi) and 39 (i) 
and (iv) of the Bye-Laws and practice of 
TECU, a minimum of five (5) additional 
Nominees are required to fill the vacant 
positions and satisfy alternates for 
Committees; one (1) additional Nominee 
for the Credit Committee, and four (4) 

REPORT OF THE NOMINATION COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)
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additional Nominees for the Supervisory 
Committee.

d) In spite of the recommendations of the 
NC, any financial member at the AGM 
has the right to nominate other members 
from the floor to the Board, Credit and 
Supervisory Committees, in accordance 
with Clause 50 (d) of the Bye-Laws of TECU. 
Albeit, these Nominees would not have 
been subjected to the entire nomination 
and selection process and as such, the NC 
will not be in a position to validate their 
suitability for office and service as Officers 
of TECU.

REPORT OF THE NOMINATION COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

E.  Conclusion

 The NC wishes to convey its thanks to the 
Board for the privilege to serve the Credit 
Union on such an essential Committee. The 
Committee also expresses its gratitude and 
appreciation to the Corporate Secretary, 
Ms. Jessica Andrews, for her support of 
the Committee, and her professionalism in 
executing her duties. In recognition of the 
significance of the Nomination and Selection 
Process, the NC undertook diligently to fulfill 
its mandate by securing and recommending 
suitable Nominees for the vacant positions on 
TECU’s leadership Committees. 

(Original signed by the Chairman)

Nominee Profiles 2017

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Kenneth Allum

TECU member for twenty-nine (29) years. Retired from PETROTRIN as President in 2012 
having served thirty-eight (38) years in the Petroleum Sector. He completed, in 2017, 
his first term of three (3) years on TECU’s Board of Directors.  He was also a member of 
the Audit, Risk & Compliance, Finance & Investment, and Organization & Effectiveness 
Committees of TECU’s Board.  His expertise is in Chemical Engineering, Management 
and Leadership.

Leonard Chan Chow

TECU member for twenty-seven (27) years. Retired from PETROTRIN in 2014 after 
twenty (20) years as Marine Manager.  He has served on TECU’s Credit Committee for 
nine (9) years and on the Board of Directors for nine (9) years. He was also the member 
of the Board with responsibility for our Insurance portfolio. He completed studies in 
Maritime Safety Administration (Nautical). His expertise is in the Maritime Industry, 
HSSE and Project Management.
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Keah Adela Clarke

TECU member for nine (9) years and attending her first TECU AGM in 2017.  Employed 
as a Business Operations Assistant in the Land Settlement Agency where she handles 
personnel matters and has also acted in a Supervisory capacity. She has completed 
studies in Leadership, Entrepreneurship and Innovation. Her expertise is in Personnel 
Relations and editorial work.

Ian-Michael Haynes

TECU member for forty-one (41) years. Retired from PETROTRIN as Chief Inspection 
Engineer. He has been a member of TECU’s Board of Directors continuously since 1994, 
and has served as President, Vice President and Honorary Secretary.  He has also been 
a member of the Board’s Property Development & Maintenance and Finance & Invest-
ment Committees, and served as Chairman of the Education Committee for fifteen 
(15) years.  His expertise is in Inspection, Engineering Services and HSSE.

Kenneth Lennox Lewis

TECU member for fifteen (15) years.  Retired from PETROTRIN as Manager, Process and 
Chemical Engineering in 2002, and was a part-time lecturer in Chemical Process Engi-
neering at UTT.  Mr Lewis served on TECU’s Education Committee for six (6) years and 
is involved in community work. His expertise is in Engineering, Community Develop-
ment, and Education.

Sandra Matthews-Noel

TECU member for thirty-four (34) years.  Employed as a Senior Accountant at PETRO-
TRIN. She has served on TECU’s Education and Supervisory Committees for five (5) 
and six (6) years respectively, and as a member of the Board of Directors for fifteen 
(15) years, holding the portfolio of Honorary Secretary for ten (10) years.  She has also 
been a member of the Board’s Governance, Marketing & Member Service, Finance & 
Investment and Organisation Effectiveness Committees. Her expertise is in Finance 
and Marketing.

Nicole Rachel Murrell

TECU member for twelve (12) years and attending her first TECU AGM in 2017. 
Employed as a Wealth Manager at Guardian Asset Management & Investment Services 
Limited for eight (8) years.   She has completed studies in Business Administration 
specialising in Energy Business Management. Her expertise is in Finance, Wealth & 
Portfolio Management and Business Development. 

NOMINEE PROFILES 2017 (CONTINUED)
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NOMINEE PROFILES 2017 (CONTINUED)

CREDIT COMMITTEE
Norman Arjoon

TECU member for forty-four (44) years. Retired from PETROTRIN as an Accountant.  
He has served on TECU’s Credit Committee for over fifteen (15) years.  His expertise 
is in Accounting, Credit Management and Customer Relations Management.

Michelle Badal

TECU member for fifteen (15) years.  Employed as a Maintenance Supervisor at 
PETROTRIN. She has served on TECU’s Credit Committee for four (4) years. Her ex-
pertise is in Facilities and Property Management, and Credit Risk Assessment.

Inga Crichlow

TECU member for fifty-five (55) years.  Retired from PETROTRIN as a Recruitment 
Officer.  She has served on TECU’s Education Committee for thirteen (13) years, the 
Supervisory Committee for three (3) years, and the Credit Committee for five (5) 
years.  Her expertise is in Human Resource Management.

Wesley Huggins

TECU member for twenty-eight (28) years.  A self-employed Driving Instructor for 
thirty-four (34) years.  He has served on TECU’s Credit Committee for four (4) years 
and in the past served on TECU’s Agent Network.  His expertise is in Accounting.

Nadine Pirtheesingh

TECU member for more than twenty (20) years.  Retired from the San Fernando City 
Council as an Administrative Assistant.  She served on TECU’s Education Committee for 
twenty (20) years and held the position of Secretary in the last term.  Her expertise is 
in Customer Relations and Events Management.
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NOMINEE PROFILES 2017 (CONTINUED)

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE
Dianne Lochan

TECU member for fourteen (14) years.  Employed as an Auditor at PETROTRIN.  She 
has served two (2) years on TECU’s Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee and one 
(1) year on the Supervisory Committee.  Her expertise is in Auditing, Policy and 
Procedures Development and Report Writing.

Tabitha Thomas

TECU member for twelve (12) years.  Employed as an Accounting Assistant/Clerk 
at PETROTRIN Trinmar Operations.  She has completed, in 2017, her first year as a 
member of the Supervisory Committee. Her expertise is in Accounting and Net-
work Marketing.

Hercial Vitalis

TECU member for seventeen (17) years.  Retired as an Educator after thirty-four 
(34) years.  He has served on TECU’s Supervisory Committee for four (4) years.  His 
expertise is in Agriculture, Business and Finance.

Lucy Ottley

TECU member for forty (40) years.  Retired from PETROTRIN as an Industrial Relations 
Clerk.  She has served for fifteen (15) years on TECU’s Education Committee, six (6) 
years on TECU’s Marketing/Member Service Committee, one (1) year on TECU’s Su-
pervisory Committee and more recently, on the Credit Committee.  Her expertise is 
in Marketing, Event and Hospitality Management and is a Life Skills and Leadership 
Trainer.

Stephen Tang

TECU member for fifty-three (53) years.  Retired from PETROTRIN as Technical Crafts-
man I and President of the Pointe-a-Pierre Branch of the Oilfields Workers Trade 
Union. Served on TECU’s Education Committee and the Credit Committee for nine-
teen (19) years.  His expertise is in Customer Relations, Mentorship and Counselling.
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